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ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 
 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2020 
 
DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY AND DECLARATION BY THE COMPANY 
SECRETARY 
 
Directors’ Statement of Responsibility 
 
The directors acknowledge their responsibility for the adequacy of accounting records, the effectiveness of risk 
management and the internal control environment, the appropriateness of accounting policies supported by reasonable 
and prudent judgements and the consistency of estimates.  The directors further acknowledge their responsibility for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements, adherence to applicable accounting standards and presentation of 
related information that fairly presents the state of affairs and the results of the company and of the group. 
 
The consolidated financial statements set out in this report incorporate the results for the year ended 31 May 2020.  
They have been prepared by the directors in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations as well the Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial 
Reporting Standards Council, the JSE Listing Requirements and in the manner required by the Companies Act.  They 
incorporate full and adequate disclosure and are based on appropriate accounting policies which have been consistently 
applied and which are supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates. 
 
The directors have reviewed the group’s budget and cash flow forecast for the year to 31 May 2021. On the basis of this 
review, and in light of the current financial position and existing borrowing facilities, the directors are satisfied that the 
company and the group are a going concern and they have accordingly adopted the going concern basis in preparing the 
annual financial statements. 
 
The external auditors are not responsible for providing an independent assessment of internal financial controls but are 
responsible for reporting on whether the financial statements are fairly presented in conformity with International 
Financial Reporting Standards.  The external audit offers reasonable, but not absolute, assurance on the accuracy of 
financial disclosures. 
 
Competence of the Company Secretary 
 
The board of directors has also considered and satisfied itself of the appropriateness of the competence, qualifications 
and expertise of the Company Secretary, CIS Company Secretaries Proprietary Limited. The board of directors 
confirms that CIS Company Secretaries Proprietary Limited is not a director of the company, and reports directly to the 
Chief Executive Officer and therefore is considered to maintain an arm’s length relationship with the board of directors. 
 
Board approval 
 
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 17 September 2020 and are signed on 
its behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 .............................................................   ..............................................................  
IK Lourens GM Glass 
Chief Executive Officer Financial Director 
 
17 September 2020 
Johannesburg 
 
 
Declaration by the Company Secretary 
 
In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, we confirm that for the year ended 31 May 2020, OneLogix Group 
Limited has to the best of our knowledge, lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all such 
returns and notices as are required of a public company in terms of the Act and that all such returns and notices are true, 
correct and up to date. 
 
 
 
 
………………………………………. 
 
CIS Company Secretaries Proprietary Limited 
Company Secretary 
17 September 2020 
Johannesburg 



 

3 

ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

for the year ended 31 May 2020 

 
 
The directors present their annual report, which forms part of the annual financial statements of the company and the 
group for the year ended 31 May 2020. 
 
Preparation of financial statements in terms of the Companies Act 
 
The annual financial statements have been audited by Mazars in accordance with the requirements of the Companies 
Act.  The financial statements were prepared under the supervision of Mr Geoff Glass, the Financial Director of the 
group, who is a qualified CA (SA). 
 

Nature of business 
 

The group activities are: 
 

• Local and cross-border auto-logistics; 

• Project and abnormal freight logistics throughout South and Southern Africa; 

• Logistics for solvents, acid, food grade product, liquid petroleum, gas, cryogenics and dry bulk; 

• Movement of general freight into and out of Southern Africa; 

• Refrigerated logistics of agricultural products; 

• Distribution of agricultural inputs and final products; 

• Repairs for passenger vehicles, commercial vehicles, structural chassis repairs, cab rebuilds and specialised spray 

painting;  and 

• Import and export warehouse handling and clearing and forwarding activity. 
 

Group results 
 

The total comprehensive income attributable to the owners of the parent for the year amounted to R52.1 million (2019: 
R77.2 million).  Basic earnings per share for the year was 14.3 cents (2019: 31.5 cents). 
 

The group’s and company’s financial results are set out in detail in the annual financial statements and accompanying 
notes. 
 

Impact of Covid-19 lockdown 
 

For the first time in 11 years, Onelogix is reporting a profit decline primarily due to the protracted listless economic 
environment, and in the latter two months, the ramifications of the worldwide Covid-19 societal lockdown. 
 

The lockdown severely restricted trading for most group businesses with one less affected exception, Jackson, which 
was deemed an essential service. Comprehensive Covid-19 safety protocols, including re-scheduled work arrangements, 
have worked well. 
 

Each of the group’s 12 businesses have weathered the economic storm, with some achieving a profit improvement, 
while others remained inherently strong given the circumstances.  Emergency lockdown interventions have not 
compromised the inherent rationale of any of the businesses.  Despite an uncertain economic future, we remain 
convinced that each has a sound underlying business strategy, skilled, resilient and innovative management teams and a 
strong customer base that will ensure sustainability. 
 

The group’s decentralised management structure enabled a swift and effective response to the Covid-19 lockdown.  
Right-sizing interventions included freezing non-essential capital and operating expenditure, a re-evaluation of fleet 
utilisation, salary and wage cost reduction measures, relief measures from suppliers’ payment restructures from debt 
providers and accessing state financial support schemes.  Some 5% of staff, mainly in the abnormal logistics segment, 
were retrenched in the new financial year at a cost of approximately R9 million. 
 

The lockdown affected the last two months of group trading and revenue was compromised to the approximate extent of 
R170 million and profit before tax (excluding property impairments of R5 million) by some R30 million. 
 

The Covid-19 infection rates for the group have been remarkably low and management continued its long-established 
priority focus on a safe and healthy work environment for all staff. 
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ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 
for the year ended 31 May 2020 

 
 
Solvency and liquidity 
 
The group’s bank funding utilisation is wholly related to the group’s vehicle and property assets. 
 
As a result of decreased activity during the lockdown period payment holidays of three to four months were negotiated 
with banks for the majority of instalments sales agreements and lease agreements relating to vehicles of the payment 
holidays was that terms for the agreements were extended for the same period as the underlying asset would be in a 
similar condition including the additional financing term. 
 
The majority of the group’s funding is provided by three financial institutions and the balance of other funders that are 
used do not apply special covenants to facilities granted, and are secured. 
 
The group has unutilised borrowing capacity of R380 million relating to fleet, R30 million relating to Umlaas Road 
Phase 3 development and an unutilised overdraft facility of R55.5 million. 
 
The board confirms that the group has sufficient funds to pay debts (including estimated R60 million need to complete 
Umlaas Road Phase 3), development as they fall due over the next year and consequently the going concern assessment 
is considered appropriate. 
 
The bank covenants applicable at 31 May 2020 were met or condoned. 
 

 Bank 1* Bank 2^ Bank 3* 

 Actual Covenant Actual Covenant Actual Covenant 

Net debt/EBITDA < 2 3 1.2 2.5 2 3.5 

Debt service cover ratio >~ 0.2 1.2 0.2 1.3 N/A N/A 

Interest cover > 5.2 3.5 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Gross debt/Equity < 0.8 1.5 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 
*  Includes IFRS 16 and based on consolidated group. 
^  Excludes IFRS 16 and based on consolidated group. 
~  Condonation obtained from banks to establish appropriate covenant adjustments for specific negative working capital 
movements at 31 May 2020 brought on by Covid-19 related factors. 
 
Refer to note 24 Going concern, for further details regarding arrangements with banks for the upcoming financial year. 
 
Goodwill 
 
Management uses the value-in-use method to determine the recoverable amount of goodwill allocated to a cash-
generating unit on an annual basis. 
 
The impact of Covid-19 has resulted in projected lower cash flows.  Higher weighted average costs of capital rates have 
impacted the calculation. 
 
The medium to longer term prospects for the group are expected to be more resilient. 
 
Based on calculations as well as additional sensitivity testing, no impairment of the carrying value of goodwill is 
considered necessary. 
 
Property revaluation and impairment 
 
During the year owner-occupied properties were revalued by independent valuers in line with the group’s accounting 
policy to revalue properties on a triennial basis. 
 
The fair values as determined resulted in an upward revaluation of our Pomona properties by R22 million and an 
impairment on a property situated in Brakpan of R5 million, with an after tax impact of the revaluation of R17.1 million 
recognised in other comprehensive income and the R5 million being recognised in operating and administration costs in 
the income statement. 
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ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 
for the year ended 31 May 2020 

 
 
Share capital 
 

At year-end the authorised share capital comprised 500 000 000 (2019: 500 000 000) ordinary shares of no-par value, of 
which 265 734 057 (2019: 281 209 972) were issued.  15 502 829 ordinary shares (2019: 3 507 669) were repurchased 
for an average price of 312 cents (2019: 354 cents) (including trading expenses) for an aggregate consideration of R48.3 
million (2019: R12.4 million) of which 15 475 915 were cancelled and returned to authorised but unissued share capital 
during the year and 26 914 in July 2020. 
 

Ordinary shares of 37 976 892 (2019: 37 976 892) are classified as treasury shares as these shares are held by OLG 
Esizayo Proprietary Limited and OLG Abaholi Proprietary Limited whose results are required to be consolidated per 
IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 

The company’s unissued shares have been placed under the control of the directors until the upcoming annual general 
meeting. 
 

Subsidiaries and business combinations 
 

Details of the company’s interest in its subsidiaries are set out in note 22 to the annual financial statements.  No 
business combinations were concluded during the year. 
 

Dividend 
 

A dividend of 5 cents per share was declared and paid during the year under review (2019: 11 cents per share). 
 

Directors 
 

The directors during the period were as follows: 
 
Independent non-executive directors 
 

AJ Grant 
IM Pule (Appointed on 26 November 2019) 
KV Ratshefola 
LJ Sennelo (Chairperson) 
 

Non-executive Directors 
 

KB Schoeman (Alternate: LLJ Mosiane) 
 

Executive directors 
 

NJ Bester 

GM Glass (FD 

IK Lourens (CEO) 

CV McCulloch (COO) 
 

In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation, LJ Sennelo and KB Schoeman (Alternate: LLJ Mosiane) will retire as 

directors at the upcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, will offer themselvesf for re-election.  IM Pule 

was appointed as director during the year and the appointment is subject to approval by shareholders at the upcoming 

general meeting. 
 

Directors’ interest 
 

No material contracts in which directors have an interest were entered into during the year other than the transactions 

detailed in note 19 to the annual financial statements. 
 

Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 19 to the annual financial statements. 

 



 

6 

ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued) 

for the year ended 31 May 2020 

 

Directors’ shareholding (continued) 

 

At 31 May 2020, the directors of the company directly and indirectly held, 109 421 744 (2019: 108 971 744) shares in 

the issued share capital of the company.  Save for the shareholdings detailed below, no other director held any interest 

in the issued share capital of the company. 

 

 

Director 

Direct 

2020 

Indirect 

2020 

Total 

2020 

Total 

2019 

 

NJ Bester - 91 253 945 91 253 945 91 253 945 

GM Glass 1 400 000 - 1 400 000 950 000 

IK Lourens 11 767 799 - 11 767 799 11 767 799 

CV McCulloch 5 000 000 - 5 000 000 5 000 000 

 18 167 799 91 253 945 109 421 744 108 971 744 

 

Since year-end to the date of this report there has been no change in directors’ shareholding. 

 

Company secretary 

 

The secretary of the company during the year under review was CIS Company Secretaries Proprietary Limited. Their 

business and postal addresses are set out on page 77 of the financial statements. 

 

Auditors 

 

Mazars will continue in office in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act. 

 

Subsequent events 

 

Refer to note 25 for a detailed description of subsequent events. 
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ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2020 
 
AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT 
REPORT OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE IN TERMS OF THE COMPANIES ACT 

 

 

REPORT OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE  

 

In terms of section 94 of the Companies Act, the Audit and Risk Committee reports that it has adopted appropriate 

formal terms of reference as its mandate, and has regulated its affairs in compliance with this mandate, and has 

discharged all of its responsibilities set out therein. 
 

The Audit and Risk Committee has discharged the functions in terms of its charter and ascribed to it in terms of the Act 

as follows: 
 

• Reviewed the interim and year-end financial statements, culminating in a recommendation to the board to adopt 

them. In the course of its review the committee: 

o Took appropriate steps to ensure the financial statements were prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”), 

the Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, the JSE 

Listing Requirements and in the manner required by the Companies Act. 

o Considered and where appropriate, made recommendations on internal financial controls. 

o Dealt with concerns or complaints on accounting policies, internal audit, the auditing or content of 

consolidated financial statements, and internal financial controls; and 

o Reviewed legal matters that could have a significant impact on the group’s financial statements. 

• Reviewed external audit reports on the consolidated financial statements and is satisfied that the significant risk 

areas have been adequately addressed; 

• Reviewed and approved the internal audit function; 

• Reviewed internal audit and risk management functions and, where relevant, made recommendations to the board; 

• Evaluated the effectiveness of risk management, controls and governance processes; 

• Verified the credentials and independence of the external auditor, and nominated Mazars as auditors for the 

company and noted the appointment of Ms Rochelle Murugan as the designated auditor; 

• Approved audit fees and engagement terms of the external auditor; 

• Determined the nature and extent of allowable non-audit services and approved contract terms for non-audit 

services by the external auditor; and 

• Reviewed and considered the JSE’s 2019 report on the proactive monitoring of financial statements for compliance 

with IFRS, when preparing the annual financial statements.  In addition, the committee did in the past financial 

years consider the contents of previous proactive monitoring reports. 
 

The members of the Audit and Risk Committee will be re-elected at the forthcoming annual general meeting. 
 

As required by JSE Listings Requirement 3.84(h), the Audit and Risk Committee has satisfied itself that the group 

Financial Director has appropriate expertise and experience.  In addition, the committee satisfied itself that the 

composition, experience and skills set of the finance function met the group’s requirements. 
 

Nothing has come to the attention of the audit and risk committee that there has been a material breakdown in the 

internal accounting controls during the financial year. We base this on the information and explanations given by 

management as well as discussions with the independent external auditors on their results of their audits. 

 

 
 

Alec Grant 

Chairman 

17 September 2020 



 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Shareholders of OneLogix Group Limited 

Report on the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements 

OPINION  

We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of OneLogix Group Limited and its subsidiaries 

(the group) set out on pages 15 to 68, which comprise the consolidated and separate statements of financial position 

as at 31 May 2020, and the consolidated and separate statements of comprehensive income, the consolidated and 

separate statements of changes in equity and the consolidated and separate statements of cash flows for the year 

then ended, and notes to the consolidated and separate financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies.   

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 

consolidated and separate financial position of the group as at 31 May 2020, and its consolidated and separate 

financial performance and consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.  

BASIS FOR OPINION  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate 

Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the group in accordance with the sections 290 and 

291 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised 

January 2018), parts 1 and 3 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for 

Registered Auditors (Revised November 2018) (together the IRBA Codes) and other independence requirements 

applicable to performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities, as applicable, in accordance with the IRBA Codes and in accordance with other ethical requirements 

applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Codes are consistent with the corresponding sections of the 

International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants and the 

International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 

(including International Independence Standards) respectively. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

KEY AUDIT MATTERS  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 

consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 

our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 

we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. All key audit matters relate to the consolidated financial 

statements.  

 
 
 
 

REGISTERED AUDITOR – A FIRM OF CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS(SA) • IRBA REGISTRATION NUMBER 900222 

MAZARS HOUSE 54 GLENHOVE ROAD MELROSE ESTATE 2196 • PO BOX 6697 JOHANNESBURG 2000 • DOCEX 703 JOHANNESBURG 

TEL: +27 11 547 4000 • FAX: +27 11 484 7864 • jhb@mazars.co.za • www.mazars.co.za 

  
PARTNERS: MV NINAN (NATIONAL CO-CEO), MC OLCKERS (NATIONAL CO-CEO), SJ ADLAM, R BUCH, JC COMBRINK, GJ DE BEER, G DEVA, JJ ELOFF, 

MH FISHER, GD JACKSON, D KEEVE, R MURUGAN, MV PATEL, S RANCHHOOJEE, DM TEKIE, S TRUTER, S VORSTER 

A FULL LIST OF NATIONAL PARTNERS IS AVAILABLE ON REQUEST OR AT www.mazars.co.za 
 

http://www.mazars.co.za/


MATTER  AUDIT RESPONSE  

Goodwill Valuation – Note 9 

Intangible assets in the Consolidated Financial 

Statements of OneLogix Group Limited include 

goodwill in the amount of R114 million which 

amounts to 5% of Total Assets. Goodwill must be 

tested for impairment annually and whenever there is 

an indication that goodwill may be impaired. 

As required by the applicable accounting standards, 

the directors conduct annual impairment tests to 

assess the recoverability of the carrying value of 

goodwill.  This is performed using discounted cash 

flow models.   

There are a number of key areas of estimation and 

judgement made in determining the inputs which 

include: 

• Future revenue, operating margins and other 

items impacting projected cash flows; 

• Interest rates; 

• Discount rates applied to projected future 

cash flows; and 

• Adequacy of budgeting techniques. 

 

These assumptions have a material impact on the 

recoverability of goodwill. The growth forecasts of the 

Board of Executive Directors are associated with risks 

and can be revised in light of the COVID-19 pandemic 

and an instable macroeconomic environment. 

There is the risk for the financial statements that 

impairment has not been identified. In addition, there 

is also a risk that the disclosures in the Notes on the 

key assumptions are not appropriate. 

Due to the level of judgment, market environment 

and significance to the Group’s financial position, this 

is considered to be a key audit matter. 

We have critically assessed whether the model used 

by the directors to calculate the value in use of the 

individual Cash Generating Units (CGU’s) complies 

with the requirements of IAS 36 - Impairment of 

Assets which included:  

 

• We examined the forecast for future cash 

inflows in the detailed planning period, in 

particular with respect to whether the 

expected development of the relevant sales 

markets were given appropriate 

consideration and are consistent with the 

current budget adopted by Management;  

• We compared internal growth forecasts 

with industry expectations and those of 

significant competitors. We also assessed 

whether the assumptions in the budget 

adopted by Management about the future 

development of margins and the amount of 

investments are appropriate in light of the 

Covid-19 pandemic; 

• Our review of the appropriateness of the 

budget adopted by the Management also 

included a comparison of planning in past 

business years with the results actually 

achieved. For selected units, we examined 

whether reasons for not reaching planned 

values in the past were given appropriate 

consideration in current planning, to the 

extent that this was relevant; 

• We assessed the appropriateness of the 

assumed growth rate for the period 

following the detailed planning period on 

the basis of industry and macroeconomic 

studies;  

• We satisfied ourselves of the 

methodological appropriateness of the 

calculation and the appropriateness of the 

weighted cost of capital rates. To this end, 

we calculated our own expected values for 

the assumptions and parameters underlying 

the weighted cost of capital rates and 

compared these with the assumptions and 

parameters used. The audit team was 

supported by our company valuation 

specialists. 

 

Finally, we assessed whether the disclosures in the 

Notes on the key assumptions are appropriate. 

 



Valuation of Property, plant and equipment – Note 7  

For information on the accounting principles applied, 

please refer to Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial 

Statements. The underlying assumptions used in the 

calculation and the disclosures on the impairment 

tests performed are included in Note 7 to the 

Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 

Property, plant and equipment comprises 52% of total 

assets of the group at year end as per the Statement 

of Financial Position. 

 

Management is responsible for annually assessing the 

useful lives and residual values of assets: 

• Useful lives are determined as the period 

over which the group expects to utilise the 

benefits embodied in the assets. The group 

uses the following estimations and indicators 

to determine useful lives: 

- Expected usage of assets; 

- Expected physical wear and tear; and 

- Expected technical and commercial 

obsolescence. 

 

• Residual values are an estimate made of the 

amount the group would expect to currently 

receive for the assets if the asset was 

already the age and in the condition 

expected at the end of its useful life.  

 

Due to the significance of the estimates and 

judgements involved which could result in a material 

misstatement this has been deemed a key audit 

matter. 

We critically evaluated the reasonability of the 

useful lives and residual values as assessed by 

management in accordance with IAS 16 - Property, 

Plant and Equipment. Our evaluation included: 

 

• We considered the nature and use of 

selected assets; 

• Considered the actual age of assets per 

category compared to the assessed useful 

life to determine if assets were being used 

beyond their useful life assessment; 

• Inspected the physical condition of a 

selected sample of assets and thus their 

apparent useful lives against those that 

have been determined by management; 

• Assessed the reasonability of the 

assumptions made by management in 

determining the residual values by 

comparing it to market related residual 

values for assets of a similar nature; and 

• Evaluated management’s assessment based 

on historical data (history of profit/loss on 

disposal of assets), industry practice and 

our knowledge of the business.  

 

Finally, we assessed whether the disclosures in the 

Notes with respect to the residual values are 

appropriate. 

Initial application of IFRS 16 – Note 8 and Note 13 

For information on the accounting principles applied 

and the impact of the adoption of IFRS 16, please 

refer to the New Standards and Interpretations 

effective and adopted in the current year in the 

Consolidated Financial Statements. Disclosures on the 

effects of initial application and reconciliations can be 

found in Note 8 and Note 13 of the Notes to the 

Consolidated Financial Statements. 

As of May 31, 2020, right-of-use assets in the amount 

of R361 million and lease liabilities in the amount of 

R419 million were recognized in OneLogix Group 

Limited’s Consolidated Financial Statements. Right of 

use assets account for 17% of total assets with an 

associated lease liability approximating 35% of total 

liabilities and thus have a material impact on the 

company’s net assets and financial position. 

The initial application of the new IFRS 16 – Leases 

We critically evaluated the implementation process 

for the new IFRS accounting standard.  Our 

evaluation included the following procedures: 

• We analysed the accounting instructions 

underlying the implementation for 

completeness and conformity with IFRS 16; 

• We performed detailed testing on a sample 

basis, which was chosen in part on a 

representative and in part on a risk-

oriented basis,and reviewed the accuracy 

and completeness of the lease contracts 

and that the correct inputs have been 

applied;   

• To the extent that discretionary decisions 

were made regarding the lease term, we 

reviewed whether, in light of the market 

conditions and risks in the industry, the 



accounting standard led to material effects on the 

opening balance for the fiscal year and their 

development as of the balance sheet date. OneLogix 

Group Limited applies the new standard in 

accordance with the retrospective method. 

The calculation of the lease term and the incremental 

borrowing rates used as discount rates can be 

discretionary and based on estimates. In addition, 

extensive data from the leases must be recorded to 

calculate the initial effects of IFRS 16 and the 

development of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets 

in accordance with the standard. This data is the basis 

for the measurement and recognition of the lease 

liabilities and right-of-use assets. 

There is a risk for the Consolidated Financial 

Statements that the lease liabilities and right-of-use 

assets are not recognised in full in the balance sheet. 

Furthermore, there is a risk than the lease liabilities 

and right-of-use assets have not been measured 

correctly. 

Due to the significance of the estimates and 

judgements involved which could result in a material 

misstatement this has been deemed a key audit 

matter. 

 

underlying assumptions are plausible and 

consistent with other assumptions made in 

the Consolidated Financial Statements; 

• With the use of Computer Assisted Audit 

Techniques (CAATs), we compared the 

assumptions and parameters underlying the 

incremental borrowing rates with our own 

assumptions and publicly available data. In 

addition, we evaluated the appropriateness 

of the model used to calculate the interest 

rate and reproduced the calculation of the 

incremental borrowing rates on a risk-

oriented basis; 

• We reproduced OneLogix Group Limited’s 

calculations of the carrying amounts of the 

lease liabilities and right-of-use assets; 

• On a sample basis, we evaluated the 

measurement and recognition of lease 

liabilities and right-of-use assets performed 

by the IT system for selected leases. The 

risk-based assessment included an 

evaluation of proper measurement in the 

case of changes to, or reassessments of, the 

underlying contract; 

• To the extent that IT processing systems 

were used to calculate and consolidate the 

relevant data, in consultation with our IT 

specialists, we tested the effectiveness of 

the application controls the underlying IT 

system. 

We assessed the appropriateness of the Group’s 

disclosures of the impact of the new standard and 

the retrospective application in the notes to the 

Consolidated Financial Statements.  

 

 

Impact of the outbreak of Covid-19 on the going 

concern assumptions made by management – Note 

24 

 

The potential impact of COVID-19 is causing 

widespread disruption to normal patterns of business 

activity across the world, including South Africa and 

became significant on the 15th of March 2020 when 

the President of the Republic of South Africa declared 

the COVID-19 outbreak a national disaster and called 

for a nationwide lockdown from the 26th of March 

2020 to the 16th April 2020. On 9 April 2020, the 

President announced a two-week extension of the 

lockdown. On 23 April 2020, the President announced 

a risk-adjusted strategy for re-opening the economy 

We received an assessment of the appropriateness 

of the going concern assumption performed by 

management. We reviewed management’s 

assessment, which included, inter alia the following: 

• We obtained an understanding of the 

impact of COVID-19 on the OneLogix Group 

including any current and potential future 

disruption to operations, forced closures by 

government and impact on demand, 

through discussions with the client, the 

review of budget forecasts for the next 12 

months as well as staying abreast of notable 

events announced by the media and the 

government; 



from midnight 30 April 2020. 

The impact of the outbreak of Covid-19 had taken 

place during the financial year end of the Onelogix 

Group and is reflected in their results The lockdown 

had resulted in trading restrictions for the most of the 

group’s businesses, however despite this, some 

businesses have still remained profitable and shown 

an improvement in this regard. 

Management’s further consideration of the impact on 

the consolidated and separate financial statements 

are disclosed in note 25 (Events Occurring After The 

Reporting Period - COVID-19). Whilst the situation is 

still evolving, based on the information available at 

this point in time, the directors have assessed the 

impact of COVID-19 on the business and have 

concluded that adopting the going concern basis of 

preparation is appropriate. 

Due to the impact of COVID-19 and the uncertainty 

surrounding the final impact of COVID-19 on the 

group, it was judged to be a key audit matter. 

• We evaluated OneLogix’s relationship with 

its banks and whether the Group had any 

difficulty renewing or extending its available 

facilities by inspecting correspondence 

between OneLogix and its financial services 

provider and reviewing the existing debt 

structure and facilities currently available; 

• We evaluated further mitigating actions 

that management have adopted and could 

extend further to maintain sufficient levels 

of liquidity such as making use of relief 

options made available by SARS through UIF 

and normal tax payable relief; 

• We reviewed management’s going concern 

assessment incorporating the impact of 

COVID-19 implications. We made enquiries 

of management to understand the period of 

assessment considered by them; 

• We evaluated the key assumptions in the 

assessment prepared by management and 

assessed the reasonableness of 

assumptions used given the information 

existing at the date of the audit procedures; 

• We examined the cash flow forecasts and 

evaluated whether management’s 

conclusion regarding going concern is 

appropriate; and 

Finally, evaluated the adequacy and appropriateness 

of management’s disclosure in respect of COVID-19 

implications, disclosures within principal risks and 

uncertainties and going concern. 

 

 

OTHER INFORMATION  

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ Report, the 

Audit, Governance and Risk Committee’s Report and the Company Secretary’s Certificate as required by the 

Companies Act of South Africa and the Integrated Annual Report, which we obtained after the date of this report. 

Other information does not include the consolidated and separate financial statements and our auditor’s report 

thereon.  

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information and we do 

not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 

other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 

consolidated and separate financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 

materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of 

this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 

report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

 



RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 

of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 

consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error.  

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or have no 

realistic alternative but to do so.  

 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements 

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 

in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 

or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 

the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated and separate financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 

throughout the audit. We also:  

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 

material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

group’s internal control.  

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by the directors.  

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 

cast significant doubt on the group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 

consolidated and separate financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 

Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 

future events or conditions may cause the group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial statements represent the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements. We are 

responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for 

our audit opinion.  

 

 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 

bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  



From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 

audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 

matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 

the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 

report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 

benefits of such communication.  

 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS  

In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that 

Mazars has been the auditor of OneLogix Group Limited for 4 years.  

 

 
 

Mazars  

Registered Auditors  

Partner: Rochelle Murugan 

Registered Auditor  

17 September 2020 

Johannesburg 
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ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
for the year ended 31 May 2020 
 
     Restated^ 
 Notes   2020 

R’000 
2019 

R’000 
 
Revenue 2.1   2 622 382 2 740 092 
Fuel and motor vehicle expenses 2.2   (812 920) (880 180) 
Other operating expenses 2.3   (598 088) (596 777) 
Employment costs 3   (867 888) (876 127) 
Depreciation and amortisation 7,8   (223 998) (205 973) 
(Loss)/profit on sale of assets    (4 247) 69 

Operating profit    115 241 181 104 

Finance income 4   5 662 4 932 
Finance costs 4   (72 428) (78 476) 

Profit before taxation    48 475 107 560 
Taxation 5   (1 691) (17 709) 
 
Profit for the year 

    
46 784 

 
89 851 

 
Other comprehensive income: 

     

Revaluation of land and buildings    17 072 - 
Currency translation differences*    1 098 24 

Other comprehensive income for the year    18 170 24 

Total comprehensive income    64 954 89 875 
 
Profit attributable to: 

     

- Owners of the parent    34 196 77 190 
- Non-controlling interests    12 588 12 661 

    46 784 89 851 
 
Total comprehensive income attributable to: 

    

- Owners of the parent    52 091 77 214 
- Non-controlling interests    12 863 12 661 

    64 954 89 875 
      

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) 6   14.3 31.5 
 
* May subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss during future reporting periods. 

^ Restated for the effects of IFRS 16.  Refer to new standards and interpretations. 
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ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
at 31 May 2020 
 
    Restated^ Restated^ 
 Notes  2020 

R’000 
2019 

R’000 
2018 

R’000 
 
ASSETS      
Non-current assets      
Property, plant and equipment 7  1 113 424 1 035 668 1 011 359 
Right-of-use assets 8  360 980 369 832 310 115 
Intangible assets 9  154 308 159 318 166 707 
Loans and other receivables   5 419 5 516 8 280 
Deferred taxation 14  3 893 2 430 1 331 

   1 638 024 1 572 764 1 497 792 
 
Current assets 

     

Inventories   28 409 26 087 23 457 
Trade and other receivables 10  410 414 429 914 413 510 
Current tax receivable   3 800 1 797 2 065 
Cash and cash equivalents 11  64 534 259 006 124 664 

   507 157 716 804 563 696 

Total assets   2 145 181 2 289 568 2 061 488 
 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

     

Capital and reserves attributable to the 
group’s equity holders 

   
916 225 

 
918 455 

 
871 374 

Non-controlling interests   45 380 40 032 36 529 

Total Equity   961 605 958 487 907 903 
 
Non-current liabilities 

     

Interest-bearing borrowings 12  249 214 172 880 232 529 
Lease liabilities 13  349 048 351 048 288 548 
Deferred taxation 14  114 611 127 328 129 924 

   712 873 651 256 651 001 
 
Current liabilities 

     

Trade and other payables 15  311 987 485 852 315 964 
Interest-bearing borrowings 12  84 665 128 080 137 175 
Lease liabilities 13  70 375 62 266 46 066 
Current tax liabilities   3 676 3 627 3 379 

   470 703 679 825 502 584 

Total liabilities   1 183 576 1 331 081 1 153 585 

Total equity and liabilities   2 145 181 2 289 568 2 061 488 
 
^ Restated for the effects of IFRS 16.  Refer to new standards and interpretations. 
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ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
for the year ended 31 May 2020 

 
 Attributable to equity holders 

 
 
 
 
 

Stated 
capital 

 
 

R’000 

Treasury 
shares 

 
 

R’000 

Revaluation 
reserve 

 
 

R’000 

Other  
reserves 

 
 

R’000 

Share-based 
payment 

reserve 
 

R’000 

Foreign  
currency 

translation 
reserve 

R’000 

Transactions 
with non- 

controlling 
interests 

R’000 

Retained 
earnings 

 
 

R’000 

Attributable 
to equity 

holders 
 

R’000 

Non-
controlling 

interests 
 

R’000 

 
Total 

 
 

R’000 
 
At 31 May 2018 

 
425 875 

 
(143 430) 

 
40 717 

 
153 

 
39 828 

 
1 642 

 
(74 949) 

 
597 143 

 
886 979 

 
38 770 

 
925 749 

Effects of IFRS 16 restatement^ - - - - - - - (15 605) (15 605) (2 242) (17 847) 
Dividends paid - - - - - - - (26 931) (26 931) (9 525) (36 456) 
Non-controlling interest adjustment - - - - - - - - - 368 368 
Share-based payment reserve movement - - - - 9 199 - - - 9 199 - 9 199 
Shares repurchased and cancelled 
(see Note 17) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(12 401) 

 
(12 401) 

 
- 

 
(12 401) 

Profit for the year - - - - - - - 77 190 77 190 12 661 89 851 
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - - - 24 - - 24 - 24 

At 31 May 2019 425 875 (143 430) 40 717 153 49 027 1 666 (74 949) 619 396 918 455 40 032 958 487 
Dividends paid - - - - - - - (12 146) (12 146) (7 515) (19 661) 
Share-based payment reserve movement - - -  6 133 - - - 6 133 - 6 133 
Shares repurchased and cancelled 
(see Note 17) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(48 308) 

 
(48 308) 

 
- 

 
(48 308) 

Profit for the year - - - - - - - 34 196 34 196 12 588 46 784 
Other comprehensive income for the year - - 17 072 - - 823 - - 17 895 275 18 170 

At 31 May 2020 425 875 (143 430) 57 789 153 55 160 2 489 (74 949) 593 138 916 225 45 380 961 605 

 
Notes 17 18 7 23 
 
^ Refer to new standards and interpretations. 
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ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW 
for the year ended 31 May 2020 
 
     Restated^ 
 Notes   2020 

R’000 
2019 

R’000 
 
Cash flows from operating activities      
Cash receipts from customers    2 597 078 3 009 755 
Cash paid to suppliers and employees     (2 399 254) (2 461 905) 

Cash generated from operations 16   197 824 547 850 
Finance income received 16.1   6 231 4 329 
Finance costs paid 16.2   (73 969) (80 180) 
Taxation paid 16.3   (22 753) (20 888) 
Dividends paid to shareholders    (19 661) (36 456) 

Net cash flows from operating activities    87 672 414 655 

Cash flows from investing activities      
Purchase of property, plant and 
equipment 

 
7 

   
(168 403) 

 
(106 097) 

Borrowing costs capitalised    (10 471) (4 602) 
Purchase of intangible assets  9   (6 977) (5 444) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, 
plant and equipment 

 
7 

   
26 775 

 
28 816 

Movement in non-current receivables    97 2 764 

Net cash flows used in investing activities    (158 979) (84 563) 

Cash flows from financing activities      
Borrowings raised 12   126 027 10 015 
Repayment of borrowings 12   (133 488) (145 575) 
Repayment of lease liabilities 13   (68 534) (47 813) 
Share repurchases 17   (48 308) (12 401) 

Net cash flows from financing activities    (124 303) (195 774) 

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents   (195 610) 134 318 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   259 006 124 664 

Exchange gain on cash resources    1 138 24 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year       11   64 534 259 006 
 
^ Restated for the effects of IFRS 16.  Refer to new standards and interpretations. 
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ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 

 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

 

Summary of significant accounting policies 

Group Accounting 

Subsidiaries 

Operating assets 

Property, plant and equipment Intangible assets Financial assets Leases 

Operating liabilities 

Financial liabilities Deferred tax Leases 

Capital and reserves 

Share capital and equity 

Revenue recognition 

Logistical and related services Vehicle repair services Sale of goods 

Expenses 

Employment costs 
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ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 

 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

 

Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions 

 

The group makes estimates, assumptions and judgements concerning the future.  The resulting accounting estimates 

will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  Due to the prevailing Covid-19 lockdown conditions, the 

impacts on carrying values on assets may be wide reaching.  All estimates, assumptions and judgements have been 

carefully considered taking into account all factors into consideration.  The estimates, assumptions and judgements that 

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 

financial year are discussed below: 

 

(a)  Estimated residual values and useful lives of property, plant and equipment. 

The residual values are based on published trade prices of similarly aged comparable assets.  Management adjust the 

residual values annually for current industry conditions.  The useful life is determined by the estimated utilisation of 

the related asset based on operational requirements. 

 

(b)  Fair value of Property 

The fair values of the entity’s properties are valued by an independent valuer every 3 years.  These valuations involve a 

significant degree of judgement and estimation on which management has to make a final decision.  During the 

intervening years between independent valuations management assesses the carrying values compared to estimated fair 

values and if indicators are present of a potential impairment and/or appreciation in value, an independent valuation 

would be commissioned and the results evaluated.  The entire property portfolio was subjected to valuations during 

May – July 2020 and effective at 31 May 2020. 

 

(c)  Impairment of Goodwill 

Management uses the value-in-use method to determine the recoverable amount of goodwill on an annual basis.  

Details of the key assumptions and inputs are disclosed in note 9. 

 

(d)  Provision for expected credit loss 

The loss allowance for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.  The 

entity uses judgements in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on 

the entity’s past history, existing market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting 

period.  Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in the notes. 

 

(e)  Lease term and discount rates 

In determining the term of a lease extension options are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain 

to be extended.  The lease term is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs which 

is within the control of the lessee.  The present value of lease liabilities is determined using an incremental borrowing 
rate when the interest rate inherent in the lease is not ascertainable.  The interest rate inherent in vehicle leases is 

readily ascertainable and is used in such cases.  The present value of property lease liability is determined using an 

incremental borrowing rate of 11% which is the rate of interest the group would have incurred based on the type of 

asset, term of the lease, value of the asset, credit risk of the group as well as the economic environment in which the 

group operates. 

 

(f)  Deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets are recorded for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 

available against which the losses can be utilised.  Managerial judgement is required to determine the amount of 

deferred tax assets that can be recorded based upon the likely timing and levels of future taxable profits. 
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ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 

 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

 

Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared using a combination of the historical cost and fair value basis of 

accounting. 

Prepared in accordance with 

International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS), 

International Financial 

Reporting Interpretations 

Committee (“IFRIC”), and 

the Financial Reporting 

Pronouncements as issued 

by the Financial Reporting 

Standards Council. 

JSE Listing Requirements Companies Act Going concern principles 

Functional - and presentation currency 

South African Rand 

Rounding principles 

R’000 (Thousand) 

Foreign currency transactions 

Procedures followed to translate to presentation currency: 

- Foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate; 

- Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the 

functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was determined.  Non-monetary items that are 

measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the 

transaction.  Foreign currency differences are generally recognised in profit or loss. 
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ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 

 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Group Accounting 
 

 

Subsidiaries 

Recognition and measurement 

Company: 

Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less any accumulated impairment. 

 

Group: 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, which is the date on which the group obtains control of the 

subsidiary and continue to be consolidated until the date that control ceases. 
 

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using 

consistent accounting policies. 

Non-controlling interest (NCI) 

NCI are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition, adjusted 

for their share of profits thereafter. 

Goodwill 

Goodwill arises from business combinations where the consideration paid exceeds the fair value of the net assets 

acquired (refer to intangible policy for further information). 

Intercompany transactions 

All intergroup balances, transactions, income and expenses are eliminated in full in the consolidated financial 

statements. 

Changes in ownership without change in control 

The acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary is treated as a transaction with equity owners of the group.  The 

difference between the carrying value of the non-controlling interest and the consideration paid is recognised in the 

Transactions with non-controlling interests reserve.  This reserve is a distributable reserve that can be moved to 

retained earnings. 

Translation of foreign currencies 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, are translated into Rand at the exchange rates at the reporting date.  The 

income and expenses of foreign operations are translated into Rand at the average exchange rates in the month of the 

transactions.  The difference in translation is recognised in the Foreign currency translation reserve which is 

reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal of the subsidiary. 
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ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 

 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

 

Property, plant and equipment 

 

Categories 

Initial 

measurement 

Subsequent 

measurement 

Depreciation 

method 

 

Impairment 

Derecognition 

 

 

 

Land and buildings 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cost# 

 

Carried at the 

revaluation* 

amount (Fair 

value less 

depreciation and 

accumulated 

impairment 

losses). 

 

Land is not 

depreciated.  All 

other Property, 

plant and 

equipment is 

depreciated on a 

straight-line basis 

over the useful 

lives to its 

residual value.  

Useful lives and 

residual values are 

assessed annually 

or when market 

conditions dictate. 

When the 

carrying amount 

of property, 

plant and 

equipment is 

higher than the 

estimated 

recoverable 

amount, an 

impairment loss 

is recognised on 

profit or loss to 

bring the true 

amounts in line.  

A R5 million 

impairment 

charge was 

raised against 

one of the 

group’s owner 

occupied 

properties 

during the year. 

Specific assets 

that are 

identified for 

disposal where 

the sale is 

decidedly 

probable to 

occur within the 

next 12 months 

are classified as 

Non-current 

Assets Held for 

Sale in terms of 

IFRS 5. 

Otherwise 

derecognised on 

disposal or when 

no future 

economic 

benefit is 

expected from 

use. 

Plant and equipment Cost less 

accumulated 

depreciation and 

accumulated 

impairment  

losses. 

Vehicles 

Office furniture and 

equipment 

Computer equipment 

Leasehold 

improvements 

Depreciated over 

the shorter of its 

useful life or the 

period of the 

lease on a straight-

line basis. 

 

* Revaluations are recognised through other comprehensive income to the revaluation reserve in equity. External 

valuations are performed at lease triennially, but assessed regularly enough to ensure that the carrying amounts still 

approximates fair value at any given point in time.  Reserves related to disposals are transferred to retained earnings. 

 

# Major renovations are capitalised to the asset and depreciated over the remaining life of that asset, or to the date of 

the next major renovation.  Repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. 
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ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 

 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Intangible assets 

 

Categories 

Initial 

measurement 

Subsequent 

measurement 

Amortisation 

method 

 

Impairment 

 

 

Goodwill 

 

Consideration paid in 

business combination 

less fair value of net 

assets acquired. 

Initial cost less any 

impairment. 

Impairments are not 

subsequently reversed. 

 

 

Goodwill is not 

amortised. 

Allocated to cash 

generating units for 

impairment testing.  

Tested annually for 

impairment. 

Purchased software  

 

Cost 

 

 

 

 

 

Cost less accumulated 

amortisation and 

accumulated 

impairment losses. 

 

 

 

 

 

Amortised on a 

straight-line basis over 

their estimated useful 

lives.@ 

 

 

 

 

No impairment 

indicators were noted 

during the year and no 

impairment was 

recognised. 

Other Intangibles:  

Contractual customer 

relationships and 

supplier contracts 

Research and 

development 

Capitalised cost on 

design and testing of 

new of improved 

products.*# 

Internally generated 

software 

Capitalised cost for 

production of 

identifiable and 

unique software.#^ 

 

* Research costs are expensed as incurred. 

 

# Development costs recognised as asset when meet IAS 38 Intangible Assets recognition criteria for development 

costs. 

 

^ Costs associated with developing and maintaining computer software programmes are expensed as incurred. 

 

@ For research and development this commences when the development is complete and available for use. 
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ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 

 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

 

Leases 

Right of use assets 

 

Categories 

Initial 

measurement 

Subsequent 

measurement 

Depreciation method 

and period 

Transport and motor 

vehicles 

Right-of-use asset is 

initially measured at cost, 

which comprises the initial 

amount of the lease 

liability adjusted for any 

lease payments made at or 

before the commencement 

date, plus any initial direct 

costs incurred and an 

estimate of costs to 

dismantle and remove the 

underlying asset or restore 

the underlying assert or the 

site on which it is located, 

less any lease incentives 

received. 

Cost less accumulated 

depreciation and 

accumulated impairment 

losses. 

Right-of-use assets are 

depreciated over their 

expected useful lives on 

the same basis as owned 

assets. 

Land and buildings 

Lease Liabilities 

Initial measurement and recognition Subsequent measurement 

Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value 

of the lease payments that are due at the commencement 

date, discounted using the group’s incremental borrowing 

rate, or the rate inherent in the lease. 

At amortised cost.  It is remeasured when there is a 

change in future lease payments arising from a change in 

term or if the group changes its assessment on whether it 

will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option 

at the end of the contract. 

 

When the lease liability is remeasured, a corresponding 

adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-

of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the 

carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been 

reduced to zero. 

SHORT-TERM LEASES AND LEASES OF LOW-VALUE ASSETS 

Initial measurement and recognition 

The group has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for short-term leases that 
have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets.  Low-value assets are defined as assets with a 

new cost of R250 000 and less.  Lease payments associated are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis 

over the term of the relevant lease. 
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ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 

 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

 

Deferred Taxation 

Deferred Tax 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax 

bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated or separate financial statements.  The 

deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction, 

other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting, nor taxable profit or 

loss.  Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the 

reporting date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income 

tax liability is settled. 

Deferred Tax Assets 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available, 

against which the temporary differences can be utilised. The estimated future taxable profits are based on 

management’s forecasts and budgets. 

Off-setting 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 

against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by 

the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle 

the balances on a net basis. 
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ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 

 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Financial Instruments 

 

Financial instruments 

Financial assets 

Financial assets are recognised on trade date, when the group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

 

Classification 

Instruments included in the 

classification and the criteria 

for classification 

 

Initial measurement 

 

Subsequent measurement 

 

Financial assets at 

amortised costs 

Including Trade and other 

receivables, Loans and other 

receivables and cash and 

cash equivalent 

 

Fair value plus direct 

transaction costs 

 

Amortised costs using the 

effective interest rate 

method, less impairment. 

Impairment 

Under IFRS 9 it is not necessary for a credit event to have occurred before financial assets are impaired.  The group 

assesses, on a forward-looking basis, the lifetime expected credit losses from all possible default events associated with 

its financial assets, refer to note 21.2.  The group considers that a default event has occurred if there is either a financial 

breach of contract by the counterparty, or if internal or external information indicates that the counterparty is unlikely 

to pay its debts in full (without taking collateral into account).  The amount of the impairment is recognised in the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income within ‘Other operating expenses’. 

Write-off policy 

The group writes off a receivable when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial 

difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery e.g. when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or 

has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.  The group applies the rebuttable presumption that a default does not occur 

later than when a financial asset is 90 days past due unless the group has reasonable and supportable information to 

corroborate a more lagging default criterion.  Receivables written off may still be subject to enforcement activities 

under the group recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate.  Any recoveries made are 

recognised ‘other operating expenses’ in profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions to deliver cash or 

another financial asset to another entity. 

 

Classification 

Instruments included in the 

classification and the criteria 

for classification 

 

Initial measurement 

 

Subsequent measurement 

 

Financial liabilities at 

amortised cost 

Including interest-bearing 

borrowings, lease liabilities 

and trade and other payables 

 

Fair value plus direct 

transaction costs 

Amortised costs using the 

effective interest rate 

method 

 

Financial instruments are derecognised when they are received, settled or the obligation is extinguished. 
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ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 

 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Employee Benefits 

OneLogix identifies 4 types of employee benefits which are accounted for in accordance with IAS 19 and IFRS 2: 
 
 

Employee Benefits 

Short-term employee benefits 

Includes Sick leave, bonuses, medical care and leave pay. 

 

 

Accounting treatment: 

The expected cost of profit-sharing and bonus payments is recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and is not discounted.  It is 

recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance. 

The expected cost of short-term accumulating absences is recognised as the employees render services that increase their entitlement or, in the case 

of non-accumulating leave, when the absence occurs.  Accrued leave is measured as the amount that the company expects to pay as a result of unused 

entitlement that has accumulated to the employees at the reporting date. 

Post-employment benefits 

 

Defined contribution plan/ 

plan pension obligations 

Group companies operate various pension schemes.  The schemes are funded through payments to insurance companies or trustee-administered 

funds. The group contributes a monthly contribution to these funds and does not bear any further responsibility thereafter.  These funds are managed 

by various portfolio managers and are governed by the Pension Funds Act, 24 of 1956. 

Accounting treatment: The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when the related service is rendered.  Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset 

to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available. 
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ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 

 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Employment Benefits (continued) 

 

 

Share-based payments 

Share-based payments 

Description The group operates two equity-settled and one cash-settled, share-based compensation plans, under which the entity receives services from 

employees as consideration for equity instruments of the group or cash payments from the group. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Accounting treatment: 

The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the shares is recognised as an expense over the vesting period.  The total 

amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the granted shares: 

- including any market performance conditions; 

- excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions (for example, profitability, sales growth targets and remaining 

an employee of the entity over a specified time period);  and 

- including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the requirement for employees to save or holding shares for a specific period of 

time). 

At the end of each reporting period, the group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting 

conditions and service conditions.  It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding 

adjustment to equity for equity-settled schemes and to trade and other payables for the cash-settled schemes. 

The grant by the company of options over its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the group is treated as a capital 

contribution.  The fair value of employee services received, measured by reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over the vesting period 

as an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity in the parent entity financial statements. 
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ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 

 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Recognition of Revenue 

 

 Includes Recognition and payment terms Measurement 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Revenue 

Logistical and related services The group activities are: 
 

• Local and cross-border auto-logistics; 
• Project and abnormal freight logistics 

throughout South and southern Africa; 
• Logistics for solvents, acid, food grade 

product, liquid petroleum, gas, cryogenics and 
dry bulk; 

• Movement of general freight into and out of 
southern Africa; 

• Top-end refrigerated logistics of agricultural 
products; 

• Distribution of agricultural inputs and final 
products;  and 

• Import and export warehouse handling and 
clearing and forwarding activity. 

Revenue recognised “over time” using IFRS 15:  
Revenue from Contracts with Customers is recognised 
when control of the goods or services transfers to the 
customer, the amount of revenue can be reliably 
measured and it is probable that future economic 
benefits will flow to the entity. 
 
The performance obligation is on delivery of the 
goods.  Services are typically short-term in nature and 
accounted for as a single performance obligation. 
 
Invoices are generated from delivery notes and issued 
once the services have been completed and are usually 
payable within 30 days of statement date. 

The transaction price of the sales 
or services, net of value added 
tax, are rebates and discounts. 

Sales of goods Ad-hoc fuel sales and vehicle spares. The performance obligation is the transfer of control 
of the fuel or parts.  Invoices are usually payable 
within 30 days of statement date. 

Vehicle repair services Repairs for passenger vehicles, commercial 
vehicles, structural chassis repairs, cab rebuilds 
and specialised spray painting. 

When the group repairs a customer vehicle, job cards 
are maintained for each repair keeping trade of labour, 
parts and costs incurred on a particular job.  Revenue 
is recognised over time since the entity enhances the 
customer’s asset as and when the service is provided.        
Invoices for completed repairs are issued on a monthly 
basis and are usually payable within 30 days of 
statement date. 

The transaction price of the 
services, net of value added tax, 
are rebates and discounts. 
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ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 
 
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS// 

 
Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year 
 
In the current year, the group has adopted the following Standards and Interpretations that are effective for the current 
year and that are relevant to its operations: 
 
IFRIC 23 – Uncertainty over income tax treatments 
 
The interpretation is applied in the determination of taxable profit/(tax loss), tax bases, unsured tax losses, unused tax credits and tax 
rates, when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments under IAS 12. 
 

The interpretation did not impact on the group’s annual financial statements as the principles of IFRIC 23 have been applied in 
principle in the past. 
 
IFRS 16 – Leases 
 
IFRS 16 is applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2019, and has been adopted in the 2020 
financial year as a result.  IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance sheet lease accounting methodology for lessees.  A lessee 
recognises a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a corresponding lease liability representing its 
obligation to make lease payments.  The group has not capitalised short-term leases or leases of low-value assets. 
 

IFRS 16 replaces existing leases guidance, including IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a 
Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases – Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a 
Lease. 
 
Leases in which the group is a lessee 
 

The group recognised right-of-use assets and associated liabilities for its operating leases of vehicles and properties.  The nature of 
expenses related to those leases changed as the group recognised a depreciation charge for the right-of-use assets and interest expense 
on the lease liabilities.  Previously, the group recognised operating lease expenses on a straight-line basis over the term of the leases. 
 

The group has adopted IFRS 16 on 1 June 2019, using the full retrospective approach, therefore, restating comparative information.  
Overall cash outflows associated with the adoption of IFRS 16 relating to the payment of the lease obligations did not change.  The 
group has applied the following practical expedients as permitted by IFRS 16: 
 

• Leases with remaining lease terms shorter than twelve months were not capitalised but accounted for in the same way as short-
term leases and costs associated with these leases are shown as part of short-term lease expenses. 

 
IMPACT OF ADOPTION OF IFRS 16:  LEASES 

SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

 
   As at 31 May 2019 
  As previously 

reported 
R’000 

 
Adjustment 

R’000 

 
Restated 

R’000 
 
Revenue  2 740 092 - 2 740 092 

Operating and administration costs  (2 449 817) 96 733 (2 353 084) 

Depreciation and amortisation  (139 466) (66 507) (205 973) 

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 69 - 69 

Operating profit  150 878 30 226 181 104 

Net finance costs  (22 117) (51 427) (73 544) 

Profit before taxation  128 761 (21 201) 107 560 
Taxation  (23 645) 5 936 (17 709) 

Profit after taxation  105 116 (15 265) 89 851 
 
Other comprehensive income 

    

Movement in foreign currency translation reserve* 24 - 24 

Total comprehensive income for the year  105 140 (15 265) 89 875 

* The component of other comprehensive income may subsequently be reclassified 
to profit and loss during future reporting years 

   

 
Profit attributable to: 

    

- Non-controlling interest  14 020 (1 359) 12 661 

- Owners of the parent  91 096 (13 906) 77 190 

  105 116 (15 265) 89 851 
 
Total comprehensive income attributable to: 

    

- Non-controlling interests  14 020 (1 359) 12 661 

- Owners of the parent  91 120 (13 906) 77 214 

  105 140 (15 265) 89 875 
 

Basic and diluted basic earnings per share (cents) 37.2 (5.7) 31.5 



 

32 
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NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (continued) 
 
IMPACT OF ADOPTION OF IFRS 16:  LEASES 
SUMMARISED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
 As at 31 May 2019 As at 31 May 2018 
 As previously 

reported 
R’000 

 
Adjustment 

R’000 

 
Restated 

R’000 

As previously 
reported 

R’000 

 
Adjustment 

R’000 

 
Restated 

R’000 
 
ASSETS       
Non-current assets       
Property, plant and equipment 1 035 668 - 1 035 668 1 011 359 - 1 011 359 
Right-of-use assets - 369 832 369 832 - 310 115 310 115 
Intangible assets 159 318 - 159 318 166 707 - 166 707 
Land and receivables 5 516 - 5 516 8 280 - 8 280 
Deferred tax 2 430 - 2 430 1 331 - 1 331 

 1 202 932 369 832 1 572 764 1 187 677 310 115 1 497 792 
 
Current assets 

      

Inventories 26 087 - 26 087 23 457 - 23 457 
Trade and other receivables 433 226 (3 312) 429 914 414 386 (876) 413 510 
Taxation 1 797 - 1 797 2 065 - 2 065 
Cash resources 259 006 - 259 006 124 664 - 124 664 

 720 116 (3 312) 716 804 564 572 (876) 563 696 

Total assets 1 923 048 366 520 2 289 568 1 752 249 309 239 2 061 488 
 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES       
Equity       
Ordinary shareholders’ funds 947 966 (29 511) 918 455 886 979 (15 605) 871 374 
Non-controlling interests 43 633 (3 601) 40 032 38 770 (2 242) 36 529 

 991 599 (33 112) 958 487 925 749 (17 847) 907 903 
 
Liabilities 

      

 
Non-current liabilities 

      

Interest-bearing borrowings 172 880 - 172 880 232 529 - 232 529 
Lease liabilities - 351 048 351 048 - 288 548 288 548 
Deferred tax 140 205 (12 877) 127 328 136 865 (6 941) 129 924 

 313 085 338 171 651 256 369 394 281 607 651 001 
 
Current liabilities       

Trade and other payables 487 657 (805) 485 852 316 552 (587) 315 964 

Interest-bearing borrowings 128 080 - 128 080 137 175 - 137 175 

Lease liabilities - 62 266 62 266 - 46 066 46 066 

Taxation 3 627 - 3 627 3 379 - 3 379 

 618 364 61 461 679 825 457 106 45 479 502 584 

Total equity and liabilities 1 923 048 366 520 2 289 568 1 752 249 309 239 2 061 488 

 
Notes to Statement of Financial Position 
Net asset value per share (cents) 389.7 (12.1) 377.6 359.5 (6.3) 353.2 

Net tangible asset value per share 

(cents) 

 

324.2 

 

(12.1) 

 

312.1 

 

291.9 

 

(6.3) 

 

285.6 
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ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 
 
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (continued) 
 
IMPACT OF ADOPTION OF IFRS 16:  LEASES 
SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 

 
   As at 31 May 2019 
  As previously 

reported 
R’000 

 
Adjustment 

R’000 

 
Restated 

R’000 
 
Net cash generated from operating activities     
Cash generated from operations before changes in 
working capital 

  
299 474 

 
96 733 

 
396 207 

Changes in working capital  149 136 2 507 151 643 
Net finance costs  (24 424) (51 427) (75 851) 
Taxation paid  (20 888) - (20 888) 
Dividends paid  (36 456) - (36 456) 
 

 366 842 `47 813 515 655 
Net cash flows from investing activities     
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (106 097) - (106 097) 
Borrowing costs capitalised  (4 602) - (4 602) 
Purchase of intangible assets  (5 444) - (5 444) 
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment  28 816 - 28 816 
Movement in non-current receivables  2 764 - 2 764 

  (84 563) - (84 563) 
Net cash flows from financing activities     
Borrowings raised  10 015 - 10 015 
Repayment of borrowings  (145 575) - (145 575) 
Repayment of lease liabilities  - (47 813) (47 813) 
Share repurchases  (12 401) - (12 401) 
 

 (147 961) (47 813) (195 774) 
 
Net movement in cash resources 

  
134 318 

 
- 

 
134 318 

Cash resources at beginning of the year  124 664 - 124 664 

Exchange gain/(loss) on cash resources  24 - 24 

Cash resources at end of the year  259 006 - 259 006 
 
NOTES TO STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

 
   As at 31 May 2019 
 As previously 

reported 
R’000 

 
Adjustment 

R’000 

 
Restated 

R’000 
 
Number of shares in issue (‘000)    

- Total issued less treasury shares 243 233 - 243 133 

- Weighted 244 577 - 244 577 

- Diluted 244 577 - 244 577 

- Diluted measure for core earnings purposes 244 577 - 244 577 
 

Earnings per share measurements (cents) 
   

Headline and diluted headline earnings per share (cents) 37.3 (5.7) 31.6 

Core and diluted core headline earnings per share (cents) 43.7 (5.7) 38.0 
 

Reconciliation of headline earnings and core headline earnings 
   

Profit attributable to owners of the parent 91 096 (13 906) 77 190 

(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 
less taxation and non-controlling interests 

 
57 

 
- 

 
57 

Headline earnings 91 153 (13 906) 77 247 
 

Equity-settled share-based payments 
 

9 199 
 

- 
 

9 199 

Amortisation of intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination 
less taxation and non-controlling interests 

 
6 568 

 
- 

 
6 568 

Core headline earnings 106 920 (13 906) 93 014 
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ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 
 
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (continued) 

 

New Accounting Pronouncements 
 
 
Standards and interpretations issued and not yet effective 
 
The group has chosen not to early adopt the following Standards and Interpretations, with the exception of IFRS 16 
Leases – Covid-19 related Rent Concessions below, which have been published and are mandatory for the group’s 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020 or later periods. 
 

 Accounting 

Standard/Interpretation 

 

Effective Date 

Impact on the 

Financial Statements 

IFRS 3: 
Business 
combinations 
 

Definition of a Business 

The IASB amended the definition of a 
business to assist preparers in determining 
whether an acquired set of activities and 
assets is a business or not.  This amendment 
clarifies that a minimum requirement for a 
business includes inputs and a substantive 
process that together significantly contribute 
to create outputs.  It further narrows the 
definition of a business and outputs by 
placing emphasis on goods and services 
provided to customers and de-emphasising 
the ability to reduce costs.  Lastly, it adds an 
optional concentration test that permits a 
simplified assessment of whether an asset or 
a group of similar assets is not a business. 
 

Reference to the conceptual framework 

This amendment updates reference to the 
2018 Conceptual Framework, adds a 
requirement that transactions and other 
events within the scope of IAS 37 or 
IFRIC 21 must be accounted for per IAS 37 
and IFRIC 21 to identify the liabilities 
assumed in a business combination and adds 
an explicit statement that an acquirer does 
not recognise contingent assets acquired in a 
business combination. 

1 January 2020 
This is effective 
from the 
financial year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

1 January 2022 

The company has applied the 
standard appropriately to relevant 
transactions in the current period 
and will consider its application 
for future acquisitions. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
No expected change as such trans-
actions are unlikely to occur in 
future periods. 

IFRS 16: 
Leases 
 

Covid-19-related Rent Concessions 

This amendment affects lessees only and 
makes it easier to account for COVID-19-
related rent concessions e.g. rent holidays 
and temporary rent reductions. 
The amendment exempts lessees from 
having to consider individual lease contracts 
to determine whether rent concessions 
occurring as a direct consequence of the 
COVID-19 pandemic are lease modifica-
tions, allows lessees to account for such rent 
concessions as if they were not lease 
modifications and applies to COVID-19-
related rent concessions that reduce lease 
payments due on or before 30 June 2021. 

1 June 2020 
(can be applied 
immediately in 
financial state-
ments – interim 
or annual – not 
yet authorised  
for issue). 
This is effective 
from the 
financial year. 

No material impact as a result of 
the adoption of this amendment. 
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NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (continued) 

 

New Accounting Pronouncements 
 

 Accounting 

Standard/Interpretation 
 
Effective Date 

Impact on the 

Financial Statements 

Conceptual 
Framework 
 

Revised Conceptual Framework 

The revised Conceptual Framework is not a 
standard, and none of the concepts override 
those in any standard or any requirements in 
a standard. 
 
The purpose of the Conceptual Framework 
is to: 

• assist the Board in developing 
standards, 

• help preparers develop consistent 
accounting policies if there is no 
applicable standard in place, and 

• assist all parties to understand and 
interpret the standards. 

The Conceptual Framework includes some 
new concepts, provides updated definitions 
and recognition criteria for assets and 
liabilities, and clarifies some important 
concepts. 

1 January 2022 No impact as the group applies 
the standards throughout a set of 
financial statements and does not 
revert to the framework. 

IFRS 9: 
Financial 
Instruments 
 

Fees in the '10 per cent' test for 
Derecognition of Financial Liabilities 

The amendment clarifies which fees must 
be applied in the application of the '10 per 
cent' test when assessing whether to 
derecognise a financial liability.  It specifies 
that only fees paid or received between the 
borrower and the lender, including those 
paid or received on the other's behalf are to 
be included. 

1 January 2022 The amendment will be assessed 
for all modifications or exchanges 
of financial liabilities at the 
effective date. 

IAS 1: 
Presentation of 
Financial 
Statements, and 
IAS 8 
Accounting 
Policies, Changes 
in Accounting 
Estimates and 
Errors 

Definition of Material 

The amendment clarifies that materiality 
will depend on nature and/or magnitude of 
information individually or in combination 
in the context of the financial statements.  It 
explains how ‘obscured’ information is 
similar to omitting or misstatement and 
replaces the threshold of ‘could influence’ 
with ‘could reasonably be expected to 
influence’ in the definition of ‘material’. 

1 January 2022 No impact is considered to be 
immaterial. 
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NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (continued) 

 

New Accounting Pronouncements 
 
 

 Accounting 

Standard/Interpretation 

 

Effective Date 

Impact on the 

Financial Statements 

IAS 1: 
Presentation of 
Financial 
Statements 

Presentation of Liabilities 

The amendment clarifies that the classi-
fication of liabilities must be based on 
whether the right to defer settlement by at 
least twelve months exists at the end of the 
reporting period. It further states that 
classification is unaffected by expectation of 
settlement, that settlement refers to transfer 
or cash, equity instruments, other assets or 
services and that only if an embedded 
derivative in a convertible liability is itself 
an equity instrument would the terms of a 
liability not impact its classification. 

1 January 2023 Upon becoming effective, 
management might need to 
consider the terms and conditions 
of financial liabilities and whether 
a reclassification is required. 
 

IAS 16 
Property, Plant 
and Equipment 

Proceeds before intended use 

The amendment prohibits the deduction of 
proceeds from selling items produced while 
bringing an asset into use for the cost of that 
asset. The entity must recognise the 
proceeds from sale, and the cost of 
producing those items, in profit or loss. 

1 January 2022 No expected impact as no such 
instances exist. 

IAS 37 
Provisions, 
Contingent 
Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets 

Onerous contracts – cost of fulfilling 
a contract 

The amendment specifies that the ‘cost of 
fulfilling’ a contract comprises the ‘cost that 
relate directly to the contract’. Cost that 
relate directly to a contract can either be 
incremental costs of fulfilling that contract 
(examples would be direct labour, 
materials) or an allocation of the costs that 
relate directly to fulfilling contracts (an 
example would be the allocation of the 
depreciation charge for an item of property, 
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the 
contract). 

1 January 2022 No expected change as standard is 
currently appropriately applied. 
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ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 31 May 2020 

 

1  Segment information 

 

The executive committee considers the business from both a geographical basis and business type, being the abnormal 

logistics, and primary products logistics segments. All revenues are currently derived from operating segments within 

South Africa.  The Zambian operation derives its revenues from Vehicle Delivery Services as intergroup revenue.  This 

intergroup revenue has been eliminated within the segment. 

 

The reportable segments have been identified as follows and derive their revenue from the following operations: 

 

• Abnormal Logistics: The movement of product requiring abnormal load sanction from the relevant state authorities. 

Services revenue from Vehicle Delivery Services, TruckLogix and OneLogix Projex; and 

• Primary Products Logistics:  The movement of loads which are in the early stages of a product value chain.  

Service revenue from United Bulk, Cryogas Express, OneLogix Linehaul, Jackson Transport and Buffelshoek 

Transport. 

 

The other reconciling item includes operating segments which do not meet the individual quantitative threshold for 

separate reporting, being Quasor Software Architecturing, Atlas360 Commercial Vehicle Services, Cranbourne Panel 

Beaters and Spray Painters, OneLogix Warehousing and OneLogix Cargo Solutions. 

 

The group’s executive committee assesses the performance of the operating segments based on profit before tax. 

 

The total assets and total liabilities of the segments presented in the segmental analysis exclude intergroup loans. 

Consolidation entries are shown as part of corporate items. 

 

No single customer contributed more than 10% of revenues in the current or prior year. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 31 May 2020 

 
1.1 Segmental analysis 

 
 Abnormal 

logistics 
Primary products 

logistics 
 

Other 
Corporate 

items 
 

Total 
 
  

2020 
R’000 

Restated 
2019 

R’000 

 
2020 

R’000 

Restated 
2019 

R’000 

 
2020 

R’000 

Restated 
2019 

R’000 

 
2020 

R’000 

Restated 
2019 

R’000 

 
2020 

R’000 

Restated 
2019 

R’000 
 
Revenue 1 131 636 1 302 501 1 270 579 1 212 170 220 167 225 421 - - 2 662 382 2 740 092 

Operating and administration 
costs (excluding equity-settled 
share-based payments) 

 
 

(949 367) 

 
 

(1 080 420) 

 
 

(1 055 882) 

 
 

(992 839) 

 
 

(192 713) 

 
 

(197 863) 

 
 

(74 801) 

 
 

(72 763) 

 
 

(2 272 763) 

 
 

(2 343 885) 
Depreciation and amortisation 
(excluding amortisation of 
PPA intangibles) 

 
 

(90 287) 

 
 

(87 536) 

 
 

(113 377) 

 
 

(97 834) 

 
 

(10 254) 

 
 

(9 850) 

 
 

(597) 

 
 

(473) 

 
 

(214 515) 

 
 

(195 693) 

Trading profit 91 982 134 545 101 320 121 497 17 200 17 708 (75 398) (73 236) 135 104 200 514 
Equity-settled share-based 
payments 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(6 133) 

 
(9 199) 

 
(6 133) 

 
(9 199) 

Amortisation of PPA 
intangibles 

 
(357) 

 
(357) 

 
(8 375) 

 
(9 172) 

 
(751) 

 
(751) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(9 483) 

 
(10 280) 

(Loss)/profit on disposal of 
property, plant and equipment 

 
694 

 
(423) 

 
(5 075) 

 
(47) 

 
134 

 
536 

 
- 

 
3 

 
(4 247) 

 
(69) 

Operating profit 92 319 133 765 87 870 112 278 16 583 17 493 (81 531) (82 432) 115 241 181 104 
Net finance costs (32 336) (33 556) (41 758) (42 187) (1 329) (3 526) 8 657 5 725 (66 766) (73 544) 

Profit before taxation 59 983 100 209 46 112 70 091 15 254 13 967 (72 874) (76 707) 48 475 107 560 
 
  

31 May 2020 
R’000 

Restated 
31 May 2019 

R’000 

 
31 May 2020 

R’000 

Restated 
31 May 2019 

R’000 

 
31 May 2020 

R’000 

Restated 
31 May 2019 

R’000 

 
31 May 2020 

R’000 

Restated 
31 May 2019 

R’000 

 
31 May 2020 

R’000 

Restated 
31 May 2019 

R’000 
 
Total assets 972 668 919 552 955 939 985 024 191 759 154 549 24 815 230 443 2 145 181 2 289 568 

Total liabilities 484 814 476 713 522 057 562 046 154 793 251 269 21 912 41 053 1 183 576 1 331 081 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 May 2020 
 
   Restated 
  

 
2020 

R’000 
2019 

R’000 
 

2.1 Revenue 
 
Services rendered     
Logistical and related services   2 421 454 2 554 270 
Vehicle repair services   156 260 155 172 

   2 577 714 2 709 442 
 
Sale of goods   44 668 30 650 

   2 622 382 2 740 092 
 
Revenue is recognised over time for services rendered, and at a point time for sale of goods. 
 

2.2 Fuel and motor vehicle expenses 
 
Fuel   619 819 689 638 
Repairs and maintenance   159 714 159 064 
Licences and other expenses   33 387 31 478 

   812 920 880 180 
 

2.3 Other operating expenses 
 
The following significant items have been included in other operating expenses: 
 
Repairs and maintenance expenditure on facilities   12 208 6 418 
Operating lease rentals     

Property – short-term leases   16 269 10 906 
Office equipment – low value leases   2 061 2 677 

Foreign exchange gain   (8 328) (4 824) 
Auditors’ remuneration     

Audit fees   3 772 3 686 
Other services   310 297 

Impairment of property (see note 7)   5 000 - 
Insurance and claims   49 227 45 593 
Customs, clearing and visa costs   42 981 61 236 
Subcontractors fees   138 280 142 151 
Toll fees   91 260 92 640 
Security   21 190 22 333 
Other expenses   129 752 117 827 
Cost of repairs for external customers   94 106 95 837 

   598 088 596 777 
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    Restated 
   2020 

R’000 
2019 

R’000 
 

3 Employment costs 
 
Short-term benefits     

Salaries and wages   784 453 790 519 
Staff recruitment   642 230 
Staff training   16 555 15 191 
Staff relocation   21 371 

Share-based payments     
Share-based payment awards equity-settled   6 133 9 199 
Share-based payment awards cash-settled   (496) 2 346 

Post-employment benefits     
Contributions to defined contribution plans   60 580 58 271 

   867 888 876 127 

 
4 Finance (cost)/income 

 
Finance income     
Bank    5 118 4 209 
Interest on loan to Management of OneLogix 
Projex Proprietary Limited  

   
544 

 
556 

Interest on loan to Management of Buffelshoek 
Transport SA Proprietary Limited 

   
- 

 
167 

   5 662 4 932 
     
Finance cost     
Lease liabilities   57 433 51 427 
Instalment sale and mortgage bond liabilities   14 995 27 049 

   72 428 78 476 
 

5 Taxation 
 
Current taxation     
Current year South African Normal Tax   20 789 21 169 
Prior year adjustment South African Normal Tax   (70) 168 
Foreign taxation   80 67 

   20 799 21 404 
Deferred taxation     
Current year   (19 151) (3 714) 
Prior year adjustment   43 19 

   (19 108) (3 695) 

   1 691 17 709 
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   2020 

R’000 
2019 

R’000 
 

5 Taxation (continued) 
 
The taxation on the group’s profit before taxation differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the basic 

tax rate as follows: 
 
Profit before taxation   48 475 107 560 

Tax calculated at a tax rate of 28% (2019: 28%)    13 573 30 117 
Equity-settled share-based payment charge not 
deductible for tax purposes 

   
1 717 

 
2 576 

Capital expenses, fines and donations not 
deductible for tax purposes 

   
281 

 
223 

Prior year adjustments   (27) 187 
Foreign tax rate differential   (802) (778) 
Deductions granted by SARS¹   (13 051) (14 591) 
Exclusion of 20% on capital gain realised   - (25) 

Taxation   1 691 17 709 
 
Further information about deferred taxation is presented in note 14. 
¹ These deductions relate to learnership allowances granted by SARS in terms of s12(h) of the Income Tax Act. 
 

6 Earnings and headline earnings per share 

 

Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to shareholders by the weighted 

average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. 

   

Net number of shares in issue (‘000)    

Total issued less treasury shares  227 730 243 233 

Weighted  239 898 244 577 

Diluted  239 898 244 577 

Diluted measure for core earnings purposes  239 898 244 577 
 

Earnings per share measures (cents)    

Basic and diluted basic earnings per share (cents)  14.3 31.5 

Headline and diluted headline earnings per share (cents)  17.1 31.6 

Core headline earnings per share (cents)  22.2 38.0 
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6 Earnings and headline earnings per share (continued) 
 

Reconciliation of headline earnings and core headline earnings 
 

  

Gross 

amount 

R’000 

 

Income 

tax 

R’000 

Non- 

controlling 

interest 

R’000 

 

Net 

amount 

R’000 

 

Year ended 31 May 2020     

Profit attributable to owners of the parent - - - 34 196 

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 4 247 (1 189) 102 3 160 

Impairment of revalued property, plant and 

equipment 

 

5 000 

 

(1 400) 

 

- 

 

3 600 
     

Headline earnings    40 956 

Equity-settled share-based payments 6 133 - - 6 133 

Amortisation of intangible assets acquired as part 

of a business combination 

 

9 483 

 

(2 655) 

 

(731) 

 

6 097 

Core headline earnings    53 186 

 

Year ended 31 May 2019     

Profit attributable to owners of the parent - - - 77 190 

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (69) 19 107 57 
     

Headline earnings    77 247 

Equity-settled share-based payments 9 199 - - 9 199 

Amortisation of intangible assets acquired as part 

of a business combination 

 

10 280 

 

(2 878) 

 

(834) 

 

6 568 

Core headline earnings    93 014 
 

There was no dilutionary effect on any EPS and HEPS measures as there are no dilutionary instruments in issue.  There 

was no dilutionary effect on core HEPS during the current year as the volume weighted average share price was below 

the consideration due from the employee participation schemes, to which potential dilution in issued ordinary shares 

relates. 
 

Core headline earnings is presented which is headline earnings (as calculated based on SAICA circular 1/2019) adjusted 

for the amortisation charge of intangibles recognised on business combinations and charges relating to equity-settled 

share-based payments, as this is the basis that management uses to evaluate the performance of the group’s operations. 
 

Dividends declared 
 

A dividend of 5 cents per share (2019: 11 cents per share) was declared and paid during the year under review. 
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7 Property, plant and equipment 

 
 Leasehold 

improvements 
R’000 

Land and 
buildings 

R’000 

Plant and 
equipment 

R’000 

 
Vehicles 

R’000 

Office furniture 
and equipment 

R’000 

Computer 
equipment 

R’000 

 
Total 

R’000 
 
Useful life (years) Shorter of useful 

life or period 
of lease 

10 – 30 4 – 10 4 – 20 5 – 10 2 – 3  

 
Year ended 31 May 2020        
Opening carrying amount 5 911 277 248 12 067 728 719 4 947 6 776 1 035 668 
Additions – Expansion 2 066 150 275 1 477 48 228 1 684 7 051 210 781 
Additions – Replacement - 3 461 107 5 255 67 557 9 447 
Disposals - - (72) (30 934) (6) (10) (31 022) 
Depreciation charge (2 277) (4 971) (4 222) (109 602) (1 937) (5 441) (128 450) 
Revaluations - 22 000 - - - - 22 000 
Impairments - (5 000) - - - - (5 000) 

Closing carrying amount 5 700 443 013 9 357 641 666 4 755 8 933 1 113 424 

At 31 May 2020        
Cost and revaluations 38 413 480 218 38 147 1 253 766 16 443 38 074 1 865 061 
Accumulated depreciation 
and impairments 

 
(32 713) 

 
(37 205) 

 
(28 790) 

 
(612 100) 

 
(11 688) 

 
(29 141) 

 
(751 637) 

Closing carrying amount 5 700 443 013 9 357 641 666 4 755 8 933 1 113 424 
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7 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 
 Leasehold 

improvements 
R’000 

Land and 
buildings 

R’000 

Plant and 
equipment 

R’000 

 
Vehicles 

R’000 

Office furniture 
and equipment 

R’000 

Computer 
equipment 

R’000 

 
Total 

R’000 
 
Year ended 31 May 2019        
Opening carrying amount 7 578 199 516 8 655 784 976 4 780 5 854 1 011 359 
Additions – Expansion 1 279 81 057 6 753 64 926 2 020 4 414 160 449 
Additions – Replacement 392 - 978 17 536 21 445 19 372 
Disposals - - (140) (27 981) (294) (332) (28 747) 
Depreciation charge (2 501) (4 162) (4 179) (110 738) (1 580) (3 605) (126 765) 
Transfers (837) 837 - - - - - 

Closing carrying amount 5 911 277 248 12 067 728 719 4 947 6 776 1 035 668 

At 31 May 2019        
Cost and revaluations 36 348 304 483 39 060 1 315 736 17 543 33 751 1 746 921 
Accumulated depreciation (30 437) (27 235) (26 993) (587 017) (12 596) (26 975) (711 253) 

Closing carrying amount 5 911 277 248 12 067 728 719 4 947 6 776 1 035 668 
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7 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 

Details of assets pledged as security are disclosed in note 12. 
 

The land and buildings were revalued during the current financial year by independent valuers.  The net income 
capitalisation method was used to value the properties.  The differences between market values established and carrying 
values resulted in a revaluation upwards of R22 million relating to properties situated in Kempton Park and an 
impairment of R5 million related to a property in Brakpan.  The impairment charge is included in other operating 
expenses, there was no revaluation surplus relating to this property.  All other properties carrying values are at fair 
value. 
 

The fair value at 31 May 2020 of land and buildings is R443 million (2019: R277.2 million).  If land and buildings were 
to be recognised at cost, the carrying amount would have been R373.5 million (2019: R224.7 million).  This is a level 3 
fair value.  This method determines the net normalised annual income of property, assuming the property is fully let at 
market related rentals, and market escalations, with an allowance made for vacancies (where applicable).  Market 
related operating expenses are incurred, resulting in a net annual income which is then capitalised at a market related 
rate.  The capitalisation rate is determined from the market (i.e. rate at which similar assets have traded recently), and is 
influenced in general by: rates of return of similar properties, risk, obsolescence, inflation, market rentals growth rates, 
rates of return on other investments, as well as mortgage rates.  In determining the rate of capitalisation, the valuations 
have taken the following into account: 
 

• Demand experienced in this particular node 
• Lack of vacancies in the area 
• Condition of the buildings 
• Exposure to busy main roads 
• Location of area. 
 

Capitalisation Rate: 
 

The inherent aspects of the subject property, its size, location and risk profile determine the final capitalisation rate 
applied.  The current market trend in capitalisation rates also has to be considered.  The independent valuers applied 
rates between 10% and 15% to the properties due to their location, quality and condition of the improvements. 
 

Significant unobservable valuation input:  Range 
Price per square metre  R81 – R1 227 
 

Significant increases/(decreases) in estimated price per square metre in isolation would result in higher/(lower) fair 
value on a linear basis. 
Reconciliation to revaluation reserve included in equity:  

 
2020 

Land and 
buildings 

R’000 

2019 
Land and 
buildings 

R’000 
 

Revaluation reserve at the beginning of the year  52 470 52 470 
Deferred tax recognised  (11 753) (11 753) 

Revaluation reserve net of tax  40 717 40 717 
Current year revaluation of properties  22 000 - 
Deferred tax recognised on current year’s revaluation  (4 928) - 

Revaluation reserve at the end of the year  57 789 40 717 
 

Asset additions financed through instalment sale agreements and other borrowings have been removed from the 
additions as per the statement of cash flows in order to disclose only those additions paid in cash. 
 

Reconciliation of additions paid in cash:  2020 2019 
  R’000 R’000 
 

Total additions of property, plant and equipment   220 228 179 821 
Less non-cash additions  (41 354) (69 122) 
Borrowing costs capitalised  (10 471) (4 602) 

Total cash additions as per statement of cash flows  168 403 106 097 
 

Reconciliation of profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment:    

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment  26 775 28 816 
Net book value of disposal of property, plant and equipment  (31 022) (28 747) 

(Loss)/profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (4 247) 69 
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8 Right-of-use assets 

 
  Land and 

building 

leases 

R’000 

 

 

Vehicles 

R’000 

 

 

Total 

R’000 

 
Year ended 31 May 2020     

Opening carrying amount  218 474 151 358 369 832 

Right-of-use asset recognised  6 129 68 898 75 027 

Right-of-use asset disposed  (318) - (318) 

Depreciation charge  (35 080) (48 481) (83 561) 

Closing carrying amount  189 205 171 775 360 980 

At 31 May 2020     

Cost  267 884 270 903 538 787 

Accumulated amortisation   (78 679) (99 128) (177 807) 

Closing carrying amount  189 205 171 775 360 980 

     

     

 
Year ended 31 May 2019     

Opening carrying amount  226 129 83 986 310 115 

Right-of-use asset recognised  25 427 99 715 125 142 

Lease modifications  1 082 - 1 082 

Depreciation charge  (34 164) (32 343) (66 507) 

Closing carrying amount  218 474 151 358 369 832 

At 31 May 2019     

Cost  261 755 202 005 463 760 

Accumulated amortisation   (43 281) (50 647) (93 928) 

Closing carrying amount  218 474 151 358 369 832 
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9 Intangible assets 

 
   

 
Goodwill 

R’000 

Internally 
generated 

software 
R’000 

 
Purchased 

software 
R’000 

 
* Other 

intangibles 
R’000 

 
 

Total 
R’000 

 
Year ended 31 May 2020      
Opening carrying amount 114 607 10 353 352 34 006 159 318 
Additions - 6 442 535 - 6 977 
Amortisation charge - (1 954) (550) (9 483) (11 987) 

Closing carrying amount 114 607 14 841 337 24 523 154 308 

At 31 May 2020      
Cost 114 607 45 056 2 810 86 296 248 769 
Accumulated amortisation - (30 215) (2 473) (61 773) (94 461) 

Closing carrying amount 114 607 14 841 337 24 523 154 308 
 
Useful life (years)  5 1 - 2   
 
Year ended 31 May 2019      
Opening carrying amount 114 739 7 453 229 44 286 166 707 
Additions - 5 114 330 - 5 444 
Non-controlling interest adjustment (132) - - - (132) 
Amortisation charge - (2 214) (207) (10 280) (12 701) 

Closing carrying amount 114 607 10 353 352 34 006 159 318 

At 31 May 2019      
Cost 114 607 38 614 2 275 86 296 241 792 
Accumulated amortisation - (28 261) (1 923) (52 290) (82 474) 

Closing carrying amount 114 607 10 353 352 34 006 159 318 
 
Useful life (years)  4 - 10 1 - 4   
 
* See analysis of other intangibles. 
 
All additions of intangible assets were paid in cash. 
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9 Intangible assets (continued) 

 

Impairment tests for goodwill 

Goodwill is allocated to 10 (2019:10) of the group’s cash-generating units (CGUs), as set out below. 

 

The group annually tests whether goodwill has suffered any impairment. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating 

units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates. 

 

These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year 

period.  Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using an estimated growth rate in the range of 0% – 

4% (2019: 4% – 5%). 

 

Management determined budgeted gross margins based on past performance and its expectations for current market 

conditions.  The weighted average growth rates beyond a one-year period are consistent with the expectations of 

management and are in the range of 3% – 15% (2019: 4% – 6%).  Pre-tax discount rates of between 16% and 18% 

(2019: between 16% and 17%) reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGU.  The group has conducted a 

sensitivity analysis by changing key assumptions to simulate various possible outcomes.  Management is satisfied that 

these changes would not cause an impairment of goodwill. 

 

The attributable goodwill allocated to the CGU’s is as follows: 

 

 Goodwill 

31 May 

2020 

R’000 

Goodwill 

31 May 

2019 

R’000 

 

Atlas360 Commercial Vehicle Services Proprietary Limited 25 25 

Quasar Software Development Proprietary Limited 313 313 

OneLogix Cargo Solutions Proprietary Limited 3 032 3 032 

Cranbourne Panel Beaters and Painters Proprietary Limited 3 148 3 148 

OneLogix Projex Proprietary Limited 8 234 8 234 

Buffelshoek Transport SA Proprietary Limited 9 669 9 669 

TruckLogix (Division of OneLogix Proprietary Limited) 15 922 15 922 

Jackson Transport Proprietary Limited 16 009 16 009 

Vehicle Delivery Services (Division of OneLogix Proprietary Limited) 21 487 21 487 

United Bulk Proprietary Limited 36 768 36 768 

 114 607 114 607 
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9 Intangible assets (continued) 

 

Analysis of other intangibles: 

 

   

Supplier 

contract 

R’000 

 

Customer 

relationships 

R’000 

 

 

Total 

R’000 

 
Year ended 31 May 2020     

Opening carrying value  1 189 32 817 34 006 

Amortisation charge  (751) (8 732) (9 483) 

Closing carrying amount  438 24 085 24 523 

At 31 May 2020     

Cost  4 944 81 352 86 296 

Accumulated amortisation   (4 506) (57 267) (61 773) 

Closing carrying amount  438 24 085 24 523 

     

Remaining useful life (years)  1 1 - 4  

 
Year ended 31 May 2019     

Opening carrying value  1 940 42 346 44 286 

Amortisation charge  (751) (9 529) (10 280) 

Closing carrying amount  1 189 32 817 34 006 

At 31 May 2019     

Cost  4 944 81 352 86 296 

Accumulated amortisation   (3 755) (48 535) (52 290) 

Closing carrying amount  1 189 32 817 34 006 

     

Remaining useful life (years)  2 2 - 5  
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2020 
R’000 

Restated 
2019 

R’000 
 

10 Trade and other receivables 
 

Trade receivables   358 929 370 570 
Expected credit losses   (1 695) (879) 
Other receivables and prepayments   50 765 59 000 
Sundry loans   977 304 
VAT receivable   1 438 919 

   410 414 429 914 
 
The group has provided various financial institutions with a first cession over its book debts with a carrying value of 
R357.2 million (2019: R369.7 million) in order to secure credit facilities (refer note 12). 
 
The age analysis of trade receivables is as follows: 
 
 2020 2019 
  

Gross 
R’000 

Expected 
credit losses 

R’000 

 
Gross 
R’000 

Expected 
credit losses 

R’000 
 
Current 231 615 - 270 646 - 
30 days 88 027 - 71 109 - 
60 days 25 904 - 18 815 - 
90 days and over 13 383 (1 695) 10 000 (879) 

Total 358 929 (1 695) 370 570 (879) 
 

The standard credit terms across the group is 30 days from date of statement. 
 
 R’000   
Reconciliation of expected credit losses    

Balance as at 31 May 2018 3 175   
Increase in expected credit losses 823   
Bad debts written off (126)   
Reversal of provisions 83   
Transferred to legal debtors included in other receivables (3 076)   

Balance as at 31 May 2019 879   
Increase in expected credit losses 2 296   
Bad debts written off (1 480)   

Balance as at 31 May 2020 1 695   
 
 
 
 

  
2020 

R’000 

Restated 
2019 

R’000 
 
Trade receivables can be further analysed as follows:    

Original equipment manufacturers and related   93 832 140 243 
Primary products, producers and related   242 256 204 879 
Vehicle repair customers   22 841 25 448 

   358 929 370 570 
 
The creation and release of expected credit losses have been included in ‘other operating expenses’ in profit or loss 
(note 2.3).  Amounts charged to the expected credit losses account are written off when there is no expectation of 
recovering additional cash.  For assessment of credit risk refer to note 21.2. 
 

Other receivables, prepayments and sundry loans are not overdue or impaired including the prior year amounts.  All 
trade and other receivables are denominated in South African Rands other than R23.6 million (2019: R19.3 million) 
which is denominated in US Dollars. 
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   2020 

R’000 
2019 

R’000 
 

11 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash on hand and on-demand deposits   64 534 259 006 

   64 534 259 006 

 

Cash resources are unrestricted and the group only deposits short-term cash surpluses with banks of high credit-ratings 

assigned by recognised credit-rating agencies. 

 

12 Interest-bearing borrowings 

 

Current     

Instalment sale liabilities   82 401 124 604 

Mortgage bond liabilities   2 264 3 476 

   84 665 128 080 

Non-current      

Instalment sale liabilities   123 745 165 156 

Mortgage bond liabilities   125 469 7 724 

   249 214 172 880 

Total borrowings   333 879 300 960 

Maturity of non-current borrowings     

Between one and two years   86 923 98 213 

Later than two years and not later than five years   157 210 72 906 

Later than five years   5 081 1 761 

   249 214 172 880 

Effective interest rates   % % 

Instalment sale liabilities – variable rates   6.16 9.12 

Mortgage bond liabilities – variable rates   6.50 9.31 

Mortgage bond liabilities – fixed rates   10.12 10.12 

 

Refer to note 21.5 for the contractual maturity analysis. 
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12 Interest-bearing borrowings (continued) 

 
Securities  
 

1. Instalment sale liabilities are secured over vehicles with a net carrying value of R456.1 million (2019: R552.5 
million).  The instalment sale liabilities bear interest at rates varying from prime plus 1% to prime less 1.25% and 
are repayable over no more than six years. 

 

2. Mortgage bond liabilities are secured over land and buildings with a net carrying value of R305.3 million (2019: 
R92 million).  Certain of the mortgage bond liabilities bear interest at fixed rates, the remaining bear interest at 
variable rates.  The carrying value of the fixed rate liabilities is R3.8 million (2019: R5.7 million) opposed to a fair 
value of R3.9 million (2019: R5.7 million).  The fair value of the fixed rate liability was established by comparing 
existing terms to similar structured fixed rate funding structures and is a category level 2 fair value. 

 

   2020 
R’000 

2019 
R’000 

 

Movement in interest bearing borrowings 
 

Balance at beginning of year   300 960 369 704 
Borrowings raised   126 027 10 015 
Borrowings repaid   (133 488) (145 575) 
Movement in accrued interest included in borrowings  (974) (2 306) 
Borrowings raised on non-cash flow additions to property, plant 
and equipment 

  
41 354 

 
69 122 

Balance at end of the year   333 879 300 960 
 

The group has facilities with a number of financial service providers and the borrowing capacity available within these 
facilities is sufficient to fund the budgeted ongoing asset-based finance requirements of the group. 
 
Repayment restructures of borrowings were put in place with certain funders to align the usage of the underlying 
financed asset with the reduced operational activity been experienced over the Covid-19 lockdown period. 
 

13 Lease liabilities 
 
Balance at beginning of year  413 314 334 614 
Lease liability recognised  75 027 126 224 
Lease payments  (68 534) (47 813) 
Lease modifications  - 289 
Lease liability derecognised  (384) - 

Total lease liabilities  419 423 413 314 
Less:  Current portion of lease liabilities  (70 375) (62 266) 

Non-current lease liabilities  349 048 351 048 

 
Maturity of non-current lease liabilities    

Between one and two years  93 383 73 433 
Later than two years and not later than five years  226 748 201 726 
Later than five years  28 917 75 889 

  349 048 351 048 
 

The group leases various properties for use predominantly as vehicle storage facilities and for operational requirements 
under non-cancellable operating lease agreements.  The lease terms are between one and ten years, and the majority of 
the lease agreements are renewable at the end of the lease period at market rates. 
 

The group leases various vehicles for use in the operations under non-cancellable operating lease agreements.  The lease 
terms are between five and seven years and not renewable at the end of the lease period. 
 

Repayment restructures of lease payments were put in place with certain funders to align the usage of the underlying 
financed asset with the reduced operational activity been experienced over the Covid-19 lockdown period. 
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    Restated 
   2020 

R’000 
2019 

R’000 
 

14 Deferred taxation 
 
Deferred taxation is calculated on all temporary differences under 
the liability method using a principal tax rate of 28% (2019: 28%).  
The movement on deferred taxation is as follows: 

   

     
At beginning of year    (124 898) (128 593) 
Profit movement   19 151 3 714 
Prior year adjustment   (43) (19) 
Deferred tax on revaluation of properties charged 
to other comprehensive income 

   
(4 928) 

 
- 

At end of year   (110 718) (124 898) 

The deferred tax liability balance comprises:     
Capital allowances   (166 122) (170 769) 
Right-of-use assets   (101 074) (103 553) 

   (267 196) (274 322) 

The deferred tax asset balance comprises:     
Provisions   4 442 14 270 
Tax losses carried forward   34 598 18 724 
Lease liabilities   117 438 116 430 

   156 478 149 424 

Deferred tax liability (net)   (110 718) (124 898) 
 
Classification in statement of financial position 
 
Deferred tax assets  3 893 2 430 
Deferred tax liabilities  (114 611) (127 328) 

Net deferred tax liabilities  (110 718) (124 898) 
 
The tax losses are attributable to various subsidiaries that are expected to generate taxable profits in the foreseeable 
future as capital allowances are recouped. 
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    Restated 
   2020 

R’000 
2019 

R’000 
 

15 Trade and other payables 
 

Trade payables   146 028 204 822 
South African Revenue Services customs determent   63 743 161 566 
Accruals for other liabilities and charges   47 025 35 570 
Bonus accrual   7 970 21 368 
Payroll related accrual   17 857 23 934 
Leave pay accrual   6 782 20 719 
VAT payable   10 505 9 546 
Audit fee accrual   3 636 3 731 
Workmens’ Compensation accrual   6 368 2 848 
Cash-settled share-based payment accrual   1 850 2 346 
Unclaimed capital distributions and dividends   223 207 

   311 987 486 657 
 
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are generally payable on 30 day from statement terms.  Refer to note 21.5 
for the contractual maturity analysis. 
 

16 Cash generated from operations 
 

Reconciliation of operating profit to cash flows 
from operating activities: 

    

     
Operating profit   115 241 181 104 

Adjustments for:     
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment    128 450 126 765 
Depreciation of right-of-use assets   83 561 66 507 
Impairments   5 000 - 
Difference between carrying value of right-of-use 
asset and lease liability relating to cancelled lease 

   
(65) 

 
- 

Amortisation of intangible assets   11 987 12 701 
Equity-settled share-based payments   6 133 9 199 
Profit/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  4 247 (69) 

Changes in working capital:    
Movement in inventories   (2 322) (2 630) 
Movement in trade and other receivables   19 499 (15 528) 
Movement in trade and other payables   (173 907) 169 801 

   197 824 547 850 
 

16.1 Finance income received 
 

Finance income accrued at beginning of the year   656 53 
Finance income   5 662 4 932 
Finance income accrued at end of the year   (87) (656) 

Finance income received   6 231 4 329 
 

16.2 Finance costs paid 
 

Finance costs accrued at beginning of the year   (1 940) (3 644) 
Finance costs   (72 428) (78 476) 
Finance costs accrued at end of the year   399 1 940 

Finance costs paid   (73 969) (80 180) 
 

16.3 Taxation paid 
 

Current tax liability at beginning of year   (1 830) (1 314) 
Current tax provided   (20 799) (21 404) 
Current tax (liability)/asset at end of year   (124) 1 830 

Taxation paid   (22 753) (20 888) 
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17 Stated capital 

 No. of shares 
2020 

No. of shares 
2019 

  

Authorised     
The total authorised number of ordinary shares 500 000 000 500 000 000   
     

 No. of shares 
2020 

No. of shares 
2019 

2020 
R’000 

2019 
R’000 

Issued     
Balance at beginning of year 281 209 972 284 717 641 425 875 425 875 
Shares repurchased (15 502 829) (3 507 669) - - 

Balance at end of the year 265 707 143 281 209 972 425 875 425 875 
 

The shares repurchased were acquired at an average price of 312 cents (2019: 354 cents) each (including trading 
expenses) for an aggregate consideration of R48.3 million (2019: R12.4 million) of which 15 475 915 were cancelled 
and returned to authorised but unissued share capital during the year and 26 914 in July 2020.  Shares that are 
repurchased are set-off against retained earnings. 
 

18 Treasury shares 
 No. of shares 

2020 
No. of shares 

2019 
2020 

R’000 
2019 

R’000 
 

Treasury shares at beginning and end of year 37 976 892 37 976 892 143 430 143 430 
 

These shares are held by two employee share-based compensation schemes, which in terms of IFRS 10: Consolidated 
Financial Statements, are required to be consolidated. 
 

19 Related party transactions 
 

19.1 Related parties included the following: 
 

Subsidiaries (note 22) 
• Directors (refer to directors’ report) 
• Directors of subsidiary companies 
• The company has no controlling shareholder as it is widely held 
 

19.2 Leases on properties have been entered into with companies controlled by directors and directors of subsidiaries.  
Escalations on these leases vary from CPI plus 2% to fixed escalations of between 0% to 8% and the remaining lease 
periods range from six months to four years and nine months.  The lease commitments, have been calculated based on 
the remaining period of the various agreements by applying the estimated escalations over the full period of the lease. 
 

Details of property lease rentals paid to companies controlled by directors and directors of subsidiaries and associated 
future lease commitments are summarised below: 
 
 Current year Due within one year Due thereafter 
 2020 

R’000 
2019 

R’000 
2020 

R’000 
2019 

R’000 
2020 

R’000 
2019 

R’000 
 

Related party Relationship 
to OneLogix 

      

        
NJ Bester Director 968 913 512 483 - - 
PEJ Pols and  
M Vosloo 

Directors of 
subsidiary 

 
4 120 

 
3 754 

 
4 513 

 
4 183 

 
7 042 

 
11 568 

J du Randt Director of 
subsidiary 

 
4 464 

 
4 193 

 
4 764 

 
3 034 

 
20 301 

 
- 

A Niemand Director of 
subsidiary 

 
1 651 

 
1 763 

 
1 557 

 
1 763 

 
2 647 

 
4 554 

MA Holtzhausen 
and RG Greenslade 

Directors of 
subsidiary 

 
1 144 

 
305 

 
1 269 

 
326 

 
5 583 

 
967 

  12 347 10 928 12 615 9 789 35 573 17 089 



 

56 

ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 31 May 2020 
 

19 Related party transactions (continued) 
 

19.3 Directors’ remuneration 
 
  

 
Short-term 

Post- 
employment 

benefit 

 
Share-based 

payments 

 

 
 
 
 
2020 

 
 
 

Gross salary 
R’000 

 
 
 

Incentive 
R’000 

 
Group life 

and disability 
fringe benefit 

R’000 

 
Provident 

fund 
contribution 

R’000 

 
Share-based 

payment 
award 
R’000 

 
 

Total 
 

R’000 
       

Executive       
NJ Bester 3 530 323 61 320 - 4 234 

GM Glass 2 483 237 45 340 - 3 105 

IK Lourens 2 702 325 45 1 170 - 4 242 

CV McCulloch 3 285 323 61 563 - 4 232 

 12 000 1 208 212 2 393 - 15 813 

2019       

       
Executive       
NJ Bester 3 253 2 069 57 322 263 5 964 

GM Glass 2 282 1 514 41 340 190 4 367 

IK Lourens 2 546 2 069 41 1 050 263 5 969 

CV McCulloch 3 010 2 069 56 564 263 5 962 

 11 091 7 721 195 2 276 979 22 262 

 
   2020 

R’000 
2019 

R’000 
 

Non-executive directors:     
AJ Grant   166 153 
B Mathews   - 56 
IM Pule   112 - 
SM Pityana   - 222 
KV Ratshefola   139 16 
LJ Sennelo   259 143 
KB Schoeman (Alternate: LLJ Mosiane)   68 63 

   744 653 
 
Executive directors     
Gross remuneration   15 813 22 262 
Non-executive directors     
Fees   744 653 

   16 557 22 915 

 
The directors are considered to be the only key management and prescribed officers. 
Total earnings of executive directors are based on a cost to company package. 
The director’s terms of employment are consistent with the standard terms of employment within the group. 
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    Restated 
   2020 

R’000 
2019 

R’000 
 

20 Future capital expenditure 
 
Authorised by Directors 
 
Property, plant and equipment     
Land and buildings contracted for   49 661 92 100 
Land and buildings not yet contracted for   77 378 8 305 
Vehicles not yet contracted for   30 284 35 746 
Other not yet contracted for   16 173 26 521 
Right-of-use assets - vehicles not yet contracted for   56 536 98 537 

   230 032 261 209 
Operating lease commitments on short-term and low-value leases   
     
The future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

    

Not later than one year   1 111 1 347 
Later than one year and not later than five years   346 801 

   1 457 2 148 
 
Operating lease commitments - group companies as lessee 
 
The lease expenditure charged to profit during the year is disclosed in note 2.3. 
 
Operating lease commitments breakdown per asset class 
     
Property   512 483 
Office equipment   945 1 665 

   1 457 2 148 

 

21.1 Introduction 
 

The group's principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, bank loans and instalment sale 
agreements.  The main reason for these instruments is to finance the group's operations.  Other financial instruments 
such as trade and other receivables and trade and other payables arise directly as a consequence of the group's 
operations. 
 

The main risks arising from the group's financial instruments are credit risk, market risks (interest rate risk) and 
liquidity risk.  The group has no significant exposure to currency risk or price risk.  The board reviews and agrees 
policies for managing each of these risks which are summarised below. 
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21 Financial instruments 

 

21.2 Credit risk 
 

The most significant exposure to credit risk is in trade receivables and cash investments.  The group only deposits short-
term cash surpluses with banks of high credit ratings assigned by recognised credit-rating agencies. 
 

The majority of customers have been contractually tied for some years and have proven credit risk ratings.  The group 
policy is to evaluate credit worthiness of customers on an ongoing basis and renegotiate terms with these customers 
where the risk may be higher.  We subscribe to a credit bureau who we utilise to evaluate the customer base as and 
when required.  The group has experienced no significant default by any of its customers during the current year. 
 

Impairment of trade and other receivables 

The group makes use of a provision matrix as a practical expedient to the determination of expected credit losses on 

trade and other receivables.  The provision matrix is based on historic credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that 

are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current and forecast direction of 

conditions at the reporting date, including the time value of money, where appropriate. 
 

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the 

magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure of default.  The assessment of the probability of default and 

loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described above.  The group 

has identified that interest rates and national economic growth rates to the most pertinent factors, and accordingly, 

considers the historical loss rates based on changes in those factors.  The exposure at default is the gross carrying 

amount of the loan at the reporting date.  An impairment gain or loss is recognised for all receivables in profit or loss 

with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.  The impairment loss is 

included in other operating expenses in profit or loss as a loss as a movement in expected credit loss allowance. 
 

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables are grouped based on days outstanding since initial recognition.  
When calculating the impairment, the group first considers those receivables where there are clear indicators that there 
has been a significant increase in the expected credit loss since initial recognition.  The impairment of these receivables 
is calculated taking into consideration all reasonable and supportable information that is available and that is relevant 
for assessing the extent of the increase in credit risk since initial recognition. 
 

Having considered those trade receivables, the remainder are categorised according to their ageing profile and an 
expected credit loss determined in accordance with the simplified approach in IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.  The 
group’s historical credit loss experience shows significantly different loss patterns for different receivable segments.  
The provision for credit losses is therefore based on past due status, disaggregating trade receivables into further risk 
profiles.  The expected credit loss rates of the group’s segments are as follows: 

 
 Expected loss rate per ageing profile* 

Group at May 2020 Standard 
payment 

terms 

 
 

0 – 60 Days 

 
 

61 – 90 Days 

 
 

91 + Days 
 

Original equipment manufacturers and related 1 – 30 days 0% 0% 0% 

Primary products, producers and related 1 – 30 days 0% 1% 8% 

Vehicle repair customers 1 – 30 days 0% 1% 10% 
 

Group at May 2019     
 

Original equipment manufacturers and related 1 – 30 days 0% 2% 6% 

Primary products, producers and related 1 – 30 days 0% 2% 5% 

Vehicle repair customers 1 – 30 days 0% 0% 0% 
 

* Rounded to nearest percentage. 
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21 Financial instruments (continued) 
 

21.2 Credit risk (continued) 
 

The expected loss rates are based on the historical credit losses experienced in each category of trade receivable over 
the last twelve months.  Where there have been no bad debts, the expected credit loss is 0%.  The group has a policy of 
insuring trade receivables that require a high amount of credit in relation to the margin achieved. 
 

The carrying amounts of financial assets included in the group's Statement of Financial Position represent the group's 
exposure to credit risk in relation to these assets.  Further detail on the credit quality of trade receivables is provided in 
note 9. 
 

21.3 Market risk and sensitivity analysis 

 

The group has used a sensitivity analysis technique that measures the estimated change to the profit of either an 
instantaneous increase or decrease of 1% (100 basis points) in market interest rates from the rates applicable at 31 May 
2020, for each class of financial instrument. 
 

This analysis is for illustrative purposes only, as in practice market rates rarely change in isolation. 
 

Interest rate risk 
 

The group monitors its exposure to changeable interest rates and generally enters into agreements that are linked to 
market rates relative to the underlying asset or liability. 
 

The interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption that changes in the market interest rates affect the 
interest income or expense of variable interest financial instruments only. 
 

Where practical fuel price risks are contractually covered with customers. 
 

 

 

 

Year 

 

 

Increase/decrease in 

basis points 

Effect on profit 

before tax on interest 

rate increase 

R’000 

Effect on profit 

before tax on interest 

rate decrease 

R’000 
 

2020 100 6 366 (6 366) 

2019 100 (3 585) 3 585 

 

Currency rate risk 
 

The group has no significant foreign currency risk. 

 
21.4 Liquidity risk 

 
The group monitors risk to a shortage of funds by using strict working capital models and projected cash flow 
modelling.  The cash flows from trade receivables and trade payables are well matched in that payment terms agreed 
with customers are replicated with suppliers.  The group enforces current trade and credit terms to ensure a constant 
level of liquidity. 
 

Current liabilities included short-term interest-bearing borrowings and lease liabilities of R155.3 million (2019: R190.8 
million) which are repayable over twelve months.  The level of current assets is considered adequate to service current 
liabilities of the group. 
 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the group's financial liabilities at 31 May 2020 based on contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. 
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21 Financial instruments (continued) 
 

21.5 Maturity profile of financial liabilities 
 
 Lease 

liabilities 

R’000 

Instalment 
sale 

liabilities 
R’000 

Mortgage 
bond 

liabilities 
R’000 

 
Trade 

payables 
R’000 

Other 
payables  

and accruals 
R’000 

 
Group at 31 May 2020 
 
Within one month 5 800 5 105 706 209 771 34 953 
Later than one month but not later than one year 116 223 88 506 9 899 - - 
Between one and two years 133 368 67 905 33 288 - - 
Later than two years but not later than five years 279 098 62 945 111 063 - - 
Later than 5 years 15 996 7 415 - - - 

Total 550 485 231 876 154 956 209 771 34 953 
      
Less future finance charges (131 062) (25 730) (27 223) - - 

Present value of liability 419 423 206 146 127 733 209 771 34 953 
      
Non-current liabilities 349 048 123 745 125 469 - - 
Current liabilities 70 375 82 401 2 264 209 771 34 953 

Total financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 419 423 206 146 127 733 209 771 34 953 
 
The company’s current financial liabilities are all expected to be settled within the next twelve months. 
 
Group at 31 May 2019 
 
Within one month 9 424 15 140 363 366 388 36 577 
Later than one month but not later than one year 106 059 130 270 3 993 - - 
Between one and two years 118 773 105 978 3 764 - - 
Later than two years but not later than five years 273 695 75 676 4 802 - - 
Later than 5 years 72 774 1 623 208 - - 

Total 580 725 328 687 13 130 366 388 36 577 
      
Less future finance charges (167 411) (38 927) (1 930) - - 

Present value of liability 413 314 289 760 11 200 366 388 36 577 
      
Non-current liabilities 351 048 165 156 7 724 - - 
Current liabilities 62 266 124 604 3 476 366 388 36 577 

Total financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 413 314 289 760 11 200 366 388 36 577 
 
Reconciliation of lease liabilities to operating lease commitments at 31 May 2019   

 
  R’000 

 
As previously reported  515 783 
Reasonably certain extension on leases  67 090 
Low-value leases  (1 665) 
Short-term leases  (483) 

  580 725 
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21 Financial instruments (continued) 

 
21.5 Maturity profile of financial liabilities (continued) 

 
Maturity profile of future finance charges as at 31 May 2020 

  
Lease 

liabilities 
R’000 

Instalment 
sale 

liabilities 
R’000 

Mortgage 
bond 

liabilities 
R’000 

 
Within one month 4 003 1 110 708 
Later than one month but not later than one year 47 646 10 100 7 633 
Between one and two years 39 985 6 802 7 468 
Later than two years but not later than five years 52 349 5 384 11 412 
Later than five years (12 921) 2 334 - 

Total 131 062 25 730 27 221 
 
Maturity profile of future finance charges as at 31 May 2019 

  
Lease 

liabilities 

Instalment 
sale 

liabilities 

Mortgage 
bond 

liabilities 

 R’000 R’000 R’000 
 

Within one month 4 530 2 174 90 
Later than one month but not later than one year 47 549 18 632 790 
Between one and two years 45 340 10 949 580 
Later than two years but not later than five years 70 059 7 105 466 
Later than five years (67) 67 4 

Total 167 411 38 927 1 930 
 

21.5.1 Financial assets by category 
 

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below: 
 Financial assets at 

amortised cost 

 2020 
R’000 

2019 
R’000 

 
Trade and other receivables 357 234 369 691 
Cash and cash equivalents 64 534 259 006 
Loans and other receivables:   
- OneLogix Projex management loan 5 419 5 516 

 427 187 634 213 
 

21.6 Capital risk management 
 
The group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide 
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the weighted 
average cost of capital. 
 
In order to maintain or adjust this capital structure, the group may issue new shares, pay a dividend to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders or sell assets to reduce debt. 
 
In light of recognition of lease liabilities and in consultation with debt providers, the group monitors capital on the basis of the gross 
debt to equity ratio and considers a ratio of 1 times as optimal.  The ratio is calculated as gross debt (including current and non-
current borrowings and lease liabilities as shown on the statement of financial position) divided by total equity.  The gross debt to 
equity ratio for 2020 is 0.8 times (2019: 0.7 times). 
 
The group is subject to capital requirements covenants arising in the ordinary course of securing financing facilities from a particular 
debt provider and has complied with these requirements in that gross debt to equity must be less than 1.5 times and the measurement 
at year end is 0.8 times. 
 

21.7 Net fair values 
 
The carrying amounts of financial instruments approximates their fair values due to the maturity profiles of these assets and 
liabilities. 
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22 Interest in other entities 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Country 

 
 
 

Effective 
Percentage 

held 
2020 

% 

 
 
 

Effective 
Percentage 

held 
2019 

% 
 
Details of companies are reflected below:    
    
Directly held:    

Subsidiary of OneLogix Group Limited:    

OneLogix Proprietary Limited RSA 100 100 
OLI Trading Limited Mauritius 75 75 
    
Indirectly held:    

Subsidiaries of OneLogix Proprietary Limited:    

Commercial Vehicle Delivery Services Proprietary Limited¹ RSA 100 100 
Vehicle Delivery Services Zimbabwe (Pvt) Limited¹ Zimbabwe 100 100 

RFB Logistics Proprietary Limited¹ RSA 100 100 

PM Hire Proprietary Limited¹ RSA 100 100 
Madison Freightlines SA Proprietary Limited¹ RSA 100 100 

OneLogix Projex Proprietary Limited RSA 92.1 92.1 

Middle of the Road Proprietary Limited RSA 100 100 
Quasar Software Development Proprietary Limited RSA 85 85 

United Bulk Proprietary Limited RSA 100 100 
OneLogix Linehaul Proprietary Limited RSA 75 75 

Jackson Transport Proprietary Limited RSA 74 74 

Jackson Fleet Proprietary Limited¹ RSA 74 74 
Buffelshoek Transport SA Proprietary Limited RSA 82 82 

Buffelshoek Fleet Proprietary Limited¹ RSA 74 74 

OneLogix Cargo Solutions Proprietary Limited RSA 69.5 69.5 
OneLogix Warehousing Proprietary Limited RSA 69.5 69.5 

Siyaduma Group Proprietary Limited RSA 75 75 
    
Subsidiaries of United Bulk Proprietary Limited:    

Vision Transport Proprietary Limited¹ RSA 100 100 

Cryogas Express Proprietary Limited RSA 74.2 74.2 
    
Subsidiaries of Siyaduma Group Proprietary Limited:    

Atlas360 Commercial Vehicle Services Proprietary Limited RSA 100 100 

Cranbourne Panel Beaters and Spray Painters Proprietary Limited RSA 60 60 

 
¹ Dormant companies 

 

The group holds a majority voting rights in all of the subsidiaries. There are no significant judgements made in 

determining whether the group has control or significant influence. 

 

All subsidiary companies have a 31 May year-end and consistent accounting policies are also applied. 
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22 Interest in other entities (continued) 

 
The summarised financial information contained below relates to a subsidiary of the group that is considered to have a 

significant non-controlling interest: 
 Jackson Transport 

Proprietary Limited 

  Restated 

 2020 
R’000 

2019 
R’000 

 
Summarised statement of financial position   
 
Non-current assets 

 
176 099 

 
165 636 

Current assets 89 090 89 993 

Total assets 265 189 255 629 
 
Non-current liabilities 112 479 97 005 
Current liabilities 69 891 76 416 

Total liabilities 182 370 173 421 
 
Accumulated non-controlling interests 21 533 21 374 

 
Summarised income statement   
Revenue 394 542 360 573 
Profit after tax for the year 23 688 21 784 

Total comprehensive income 23 688 21 784 
 
Profit attributable to no-controlling interests 6 159 5 664 
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 6 000 2 000 

 
Summarised statement of cash flows   
Cash flows generated from operating activities 19 001 34 259 
Cash flows generated from investing activities 3 546 4 656 
Cash flows utilised in financing activities (29 809) (33 171) 
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23 Share-based compensation 

 

Share-based compensation schemes 

 

The Company has employee and management share-based compensation schemes in order to incentivise and retain 

employees of the company. 

 

OLG Esizayo Proprietary Limited and OLG Abaholi Proprietary Limited house the Employee and Management 

schemes respectively.  Both schemes are settled in shares and are therefore considered equity-settled share-based 

payments.  A third scheme, a cash-settled scheme in the form of share appreciation rights, was introduced during the 

prior year and the liability is included in note 15 as part of trade and other payables. 

 

Employee share-based compensation scheme 

 

OLG Esizayo holds 24 917 929 OneLogix ordinary shares acquired for an aggregate amount of R89 380 613.  

OneLogix holds one non-convertible cumulative redeemable preference share with no par value for an aggregate 

amount of R89 384 613 in OLG Esizayo. 

 

OLG Esizayo shares have been allocated to the employees of the group and will vest to the employees if they remain in 
employment of the group after 5 years from 28 January 2015. 

 

The market value of the OneLogix shares held is well below the value of the preference shares owing, and a board 

decision on the winding-up and/or restructuring, subject to shareholder approval, of the scheme is still currently being 

considered. 

 

The OneLogix shares held by OLG Esizayo are classified as treasury shares in terms of the application of IFRS 10 (see 

Note 18).  The share-based compensation charge to be recognised over the five-year vesting period was calculated with 

the assistance of valuation specialists using a Monte Carlo simulation model, which is considered the appropriate model 

to take into account the various inputs of the scheme.  The estimated total charge amounts to R46 million which has 

been expensed over the five-year vesting period starting on 28 January 2015 and is not deductible for tax in terms of 

current taxation legislation. 

 

The group recognised a total expense of R6.1 million (2019: R9.2 million) related to the OLG Esizayo share-based 

payment scheme for the current year.  As at 31 May 2020 the group had a share-based payment equity reserve of R46 

million (2019: R39.9 million) in the Statement of Changes in Equity relating to this employee share-based 

compensation scheme. 
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23 Share-based compensation (continued) 

 
Share-based compensation schemes (continued) 
 
Management share-based compensation scheme 
 
In terms of the Management share-based compensation scheme, OLG Abaholi hold 12 658 963 OneLogix ordinary 
shares acquired for an aggregate amount of R53 420 825.  OneLogix holds one non-convertible cumulative redeemable 
participating preference share with no par value for an aggregate amount of R53 420 825 in OLG Abaholi OL as well as 
a “B” Ordinary Share for R1.00. 
 
The benefit which the OLG Abaholi Participants (certain of whom are defined as “related parties” in terms of paragraph 
10.1(b) of the Listings Requirements) derive from the OLG Abaholi Transaction will depend on the extent to which 
OneLogix achieves certain pre-determined earnings growth targets over a five-year period thereby aligning their 
interests with those of the shareholders of OneLogix. 
 
The OLG Abaholi Preference Share will have certain preferential rights, including the right to a cumulative preference 
dividend arising from the distributions received from OneLogix during each dividend period less any operating costs of 
OLG Abaholi during the relevant dividend period (“Net Income”) and shall reduce on a sliding scale over a five-year 
period as set out in the table below: 
 

Period following the OLG Abaholi subscription date 

Percentage of 
Net Income 

(%) 

First year  100 
Second year 80 
Third year 60 
Fourth year 40 
Fifth year 20 
Sixth year onwards 0 

 

The OLG Abaholi Participants shall subscribe for the OLG Abaholi “A” Ordinary Shares for a subscription price of 

R0.01 per share. 

 
The OLG Abaholi “A” Ordinary Shares and the OLG Abaholi “B” Ordinary Shares will have different voting rights and 
rights to dividends and will be subject to different transfer restrictions, as set out in the OLG Abaholi memorandum of 
incorporation (MOI), the most notable difference being that the holder of OLG Abaholi "B" Ordinary Shares shall have 
the right to receive out of capital gains arising from the sale of any assets of OLG Abaholi or deemed capital gains 
arising from the distribution of any assets of OLG Abaholi, a preferred ordinary dividend based on the real growth rate 
of Core Headline Earnings per share of OneLogix (as defined in the OLG Abaholi MOI) over a five-year period from 
the date of issue of the OLG Abaholi “B” Ordinary Share as follows: 
 
- if the relevant growth rate is less than 4%, 100% of any capital gains; 
- if the relevant growth rate is 4% or more, but less than or equal to 10%, 100% to 0% of any capital gains on a linear 

basis; or 
- if the relevant growth rate is more than 10%, 0% of any capital gains, with the balance of any capital gains capable of 

being declared as a dividend to the holders of the OLG Abaholi "A" Ordinary Shares. 
 
OLG Abaholi shares have been allocated to management employees of the group’s various entities and will vest to 
management if they remain in employment of the group after 5 years from 28 January 2015. 
 
The market value of the OneLogix shares held is well below the value of the preference shares owing and a board 
decision on the winding-up and/or restructuring, subject to shareholder approval, of the scheme is currently being 
considered. 
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23 Share-based compensation (continued) 

 

Share-based compensation schemes (continued) 

 
The OneLogix shares held by OLG Abaholi are classified as treasury shares in terms of the application of IFRS 10 (see 
Note 18).  The share-based compensation charge to be recognised over the five-year vesting period was calculated with 
the assistance of valuation specialists using a Monte Carlo simulation model, which is considered the appropriate model 
to take into account the various inputs of the scheme.  The estimated total charge amounts to R9.2 million (2019: R3.9 
million) which has been expensed over the five-year vesting period starting on 28 January 2015 and are non-tax 
deductible in terms of current taxation legislation.  The valuation will be reassessed annually to take into account the 
expected number of shares that will vest. 
 
The group recognised no expense during the current and prior year related to the OLG Abaholi share-based payment 
scheme.  At 31 May 2020 the group has a share-based payment equity reserve of R9.2 million (2019: R9.2 million) 
which is included in the share-based compensation reserve in the Statement of Changes in Equity relating to this 
management share-based compensation scheme. 

 
The main inputs into the above valuation models are as follows: 
 

Valuation date: 28 January 2015 

Maturity date: 28 January 2020 

Spot price at 28 January 2015: R6.03 

90-day VWAP to price the preference shares: R5.22 

Volatility: 26% 

Dividend yield 1.5% 

The risk-free interest rate was determined using a bootstrapped zero coupon perfect fit swap curve. 

 
The following executives participate in the management scheme: 

 

 

 

Name 

Indicative 

number of 

OneLogix shares 

2020  

 

IFRS 2 charge 

2020 

R’000 

Indicative 

number of 

OneLogix shares 

2019  

 

IFRS 2 charge 

2019 

R’000 

 

NJ Bester 760 141 - 760 141 - 

GM Glass 506 760 - 506 760 - 

IK Lourens 760 141  - 760 141 - 

CV McCulloch 760 141 - 760 141 - 

 2 787 183 - 2 787 183 - 

 
The number of indicative shares will fluctuate annually and will only be finalised based on the expected number of 
shares to be settled at vesting date. 
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23 Share-based compensation (continued) 
 

Share appreciation rights 
 

On 1 June 2018, the group introduced the OneLogix Group Limited Share Appreciation Rights Scheme (“SARS”). 
 

Under the scheme, participating employees are awarded the conditional right to receive cash equal in value to the 
difference between the exercise price and the grant price.  The employee therefore participates in the share price 
appreciation of the company over a three-year period.  Vesting of rights is subject to participants remaining employed 
(excluding for reasons of retrenchment, ill-health, retirement or death) with the group for the vesting period. 
 
The following details to SARS: 
 

 2020 
R’000 

2019 
R’000 

 
Balance at beginning of year 2 346 - 

Charged as “share-based payment awards” included in employment costs (496) 2 346 

Balance at end of the year 1 850 2 346 
 
 2020 2019 

 Number 
of rights 

Grant 
price (cents) 

Number 
of rights 

Grant 
price (cents) 

 

A reconciliation of the movement in the number of rights granted:    

Balance at beginning of year 8 574 500 400 - - 
Granted during the year 11 076 400 357 8 574 500 400 
Grants forfeited during the year (600 100) 400 - - 
Grants forfeited during the year (724 500) 357 - - 

Balance at end of the year 18 326 300  8 574 500  

 
Details of rights by year of grant: 
 

 
Grant date 

Number 
of rights 

Grant 
price (cents) 

Expiry 
date 

 

June 2018 7 974 400 400 June 2021 
June 2019 10 351 900 357 June 2022 
 

24 Going concern 
 

In assessing the group’s going concern the directors confirm that: 
 

• The group is liquid and solvent; 
• There is an approved budget for the following year that was prepared with the expected impact of Covid-19 

considered; 
• Based on budgeted results all existing debt covenants with lenders will be met; 
• The group has sufficient access to asset-based facilities, overdraft facilities or executable liquidity events, primarily 

the sale on non-core assets, to fund repayment of debt repayment of debt repayments for the next year. 
 

The board is of the opinion that the group has adequate resources and facilities in place to continue trading for the 

foreseeable future, and deems it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual consolidated 

financial statements. 

 



 

68 

ONELOGIX GROUP LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended 31 May 2020 

 

 

25 Subsequent events 

 

Since year end there has been a gradual lifting of the Covid-19 lockdown regulations in stages.  At the date of this 

report South Africa was a level 2.  There remains uncertainty regarding the timings to reach full lifting or lockdown 

conditions. 

 
Significant uncertainty around trading conditions prevail and the situation continues to be closely monitored by the 

various management teams in order to adapt as necessary to comply with Covid-19 lockdown regulations and the needs 

of our customers.  Our top priority remains the wellbeing and safety of all our employees. 

 

Despite revenue being below that of the prior year, right-sizing initiatives and cost containment has ensured that all 

businesses within the group are trading profitably and ahead of their budgets during the first quarter of the 2021 

financial year. 

 

After year-end and a result of Covid-19, the group has commenced with a retrenchment process.  It is expected that 

around 5% of the workforce will be impacted and the total cost of severance packages are expected to be in the region 

of R8.7 million. 

 

Existing covenants with bankers are expected to be met and will be monitored on a continual basis. 

 

Sale and leaseback of Umlaas Road Phase 3 

 

Umlaas Road Phase 3 is the largest capital investment undertaken by the group. As announced on SENS on 15 

September a sale and leaseback agreement for the development has been reached for a consideration of R310 million 

and its carrying value at disposal date is expected to be a similar amount. 

 

The salient terms of the sale and leaseback are as follows: 

 
• Ten-year lease at 10% yield escalating at 9% per annum; 
• Addendum to existing lease for adjacent Umlaas Road properties currently leased for an effective further 3 years to 

align lease durations for both properties at R31 million per annum (lease payments would have been R32.6 million 
under existing lease terms); 

• Payment of R61 million to the group to settle existing lease premium agreement (was minimum of R145 million at 
end of existing lease; 

• New lease incentive agreement with the group to receive greater of R120 million or 30% of total Umlaas Road 
properties at expiry of the lease. 

 
The proceeds of the disposal will be utilised to settle a portion of the company’s interest-bearing borrowings, improve 

liquidity, unlock capital and enhance OneLogix’s Broad Based Black Economic Empowerment credentials. 

The transaction is subject to both shareholder and Competition Commission approval amongst other suspensive 

conditions and is expected to be effective from 1 December 2020. 
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
for the year ended 31 May 2020 
 
 Notes  2020 

R’000 
2019 

R’000 
 
Administration fees 7  46 053 39 902 

Employment costs 8  (42 781) (43 320) 

Profit/(loss) before taxation   3 272 (3 418) 

Taxation 9  (916) 957 

Profit/(loss) after taxation/Total comprehensive income   2 356 (2 461) 
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
at 31 May 2020 
 
 Notes  2020 

R’000 
2019 

R’000 
 
ASSETS     
Non-current assets     
Investment in subsidiaries 1  406 214 460 480 
Deferred taxation 2  565 1 481 

   406 779 461 961 
 
Current assets 

    

Cash and cash equivalents 3  252 230 

   252 230 

Total assets   407 031 462 191 
 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

    

Equity     
Stated capital 4  430 650 430 650 
Treasury shares 5  (142 805) (142 805) 
Retained earnings    61 621 119 719 
Share-based compensation reserve   55 160 49 027 

Total Equity   404 626 456 591 
 
Current liabilities 

    

Trade and other payables 6  2 405 5 600 

Total liabilities   2 405 5 600 

Total equity and liabilities   407 031 462 191 
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

for the year ended 31 May 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

COMPANY 

Stated 

Capital 

 

 

R’000 

Treasury 

Shares 

 

 

R’000 

Retained 

Income 

 

 

R’000 

Share-based 

Compensation 

Reserve 

 

R’000 

Total 

 

 

 

R’000 

 

At 31 May 2018 430 650 (142 805) 161 512 39 828 489 185 

Loss/Total comprehensive income - - (2 461) - (2 461) 

Dividend paid - - (26 931) - (26 931) 

Share repurchase - - (12 401) - (12 401) 

Share-based compensation reserve 

movement 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

9 199 

 

9 199 

At 31 May 2019 430 650 (142 805) 119 719 49 027 456 591 

Profit for the year/Total comprehensive 

income 

 

- 

 

- 

 

2 356 

 

- 

 

2 356 

Dividend paid - - (12 146) - (12 146) 

Share repurchase - - (48 308) - (48 308) 

Share-based compensation reserve 

movement 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

6 133 

 

6 133 

At 31 May 2020 430 650 (142 805) 61 621 55 160 404 626 

 

Notes 4 5   
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW 
for the year ended 31 May 2020 
 

 Notes  2020 
R’000 

2019 
R’000 

 
Cash flows from operating activities     
Cash received   77 64 

Cash generated from operations 10  77 64 

Cash flows from financing activities     
Movement of borrowings 1  (55) (54) 

Net cash flows from financing activities   (55) (54) 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   22 10 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   230 220 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 3  252 230 
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2020 

R’000 
2019 

R’000 
 

1 Investment in subsidiaries 

 

Unlisted:   

   

Shares at cost   

Balance at beginning of year 98 662 89 609 

Additional investment in OneLogix Proprietary Limited (IFRS 2 charges) 6 043 9 053 

Balance at end of the year 104 705 98 662 

Loan to OneLogix Proprietary Limited 301 509 361 818 

 406 214 460 480 

 
The loan to OneLogix Proprietary Limited has no fixed repayment terms, is interest-free, is unsecured and is considered 
to be part of the investment in subsidiary. 

 
The underlying entity is liquid and solvent and no expected credit loss has been raised as a result. 
 
Refer to note 10 for detail of principal subsidiary undertakings. 

 

Movement in loan to Onelogix Proprietary Limited 60 309 39 132 

Dividend funded by subsidiary (12 146) (26 931) 

Share repurchase funded by subsidiary (48 308) (12 401) 

Share-based payment non-cash flow 90 146 

Cash movement (55) (54) 

 
2 Deferred taxation 

 
Deferred taxation is calculated on all temporary differences under 
the liability method using a principal tax rate of 28% (2019: 28%).  
The movement on deferred taxation is as follows: 

   

     
At beginning of year    1 481 524 
Profit or loss movement   (916) 957 

At end of year   565 1 481 

The deferred tax asset balance comprises:     
Provisions   565 1 481 

   565 1 481 
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   2020 

R’000 
2019 

R’000 
 

3 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash at bank and on hand   252 230 

   252 230 
 
Cash resources are unrestricted and the company only deposits short-term surpluses with banks of high credit ratings 
assigned by recognised credit-rating agencies. 
 

4 Stated capital 
 
 No. of shares 

2020 
No. of shares 

2019 
  

 
Authorised     
The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 
500 000 000 shares with no par value  

 
500 000 000 

 
500 000 000 

  

 
 No. of shares 

2020 
No. of shares 

2019 
2020 

R’000 
2019 

R’000 
 
Issued     
Balance at beginning of year 281 209 972 284 717 641 430 650 430 650 
Shares repurchased and cancelled paid out of 
retained interest 

 
(15 502 829) 

 
(3 507 669) 

 
- 

 
- 

Balance at end of the year 265 707 143 281 209 972 430 650 430 650 

 
The shares repurchased were acquired at an average price of 312 cents (2019: 354 cents) each (including trading 
expenses) for an aggregate amount of R48.3 (2019: R12.4 million) of which 15 475 915 were cancelled and returned to 
authorised but unissued share capital during the year and 26 914 in July 2020.  Shares that are repurchased are set-off 
against retained earnings. 
 

5 Treasury shares 
 
 No. of shares 

2020 
No. of shares 

2019 
2020 

R’000 
2019 

R’000 
 

Treasury shares at beginning and end of year 37 976 892 37 976 892 142 805 142 805 

 
These shares are held by two employee share-based compensation schemes, which in terms of IRFS 10: Consolidated 
Financial Statements, are required to be consolidated. 
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   2020 

R’000 
2019 

R’000 
 

6 Trade and other payables 
 
Bonus accrual   1 354 4 090 
Leave pay accrual   664 1 201 
Workmens’ Compensation accrual   141 102 
Unclaimed capital distributions and dividends   246 207 

   2 406 5 600 
 

7 Administration fees 
 
Administration fees   46 053 39 902 

   46 053 39 902 
 
Administration fees are recognised over time since the subsidiaries consume the benefits as the entity performs the 
service. 
 

8 Employment costs 
 
Short-term benefits     

Salaries and wages   38 313 39 164 
Post-employment benefits     

Contributions to defined contribution plans   4 378 4 010 
Share-based payments     

Share-based compensation charges   90 146 

   42 781 43 320 
 

9 Taxation 
 
Current taxation     
Current year South African Normal Tax   - - 

   - - 
Deferred taxation     
Current year   916 (957) 

   916 (957) 
 
The taxation on the company’s profit before taxation differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the 
basic tax rate as follows: 
 
   2020 

R’000 
2019 

R’000 
 
Profit/(loss) before taxation   3 272 (3 418) 

Tax calculated at a tax rate of 28% (2019: 28%)    916 (957) 

Taxation   916 (957) 
 
Further information about deferred taxation is presented in note 2. 
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   2020 

R’000 
2019 

R’000 
 

10 Cash generated from operations 
 
Reconciliation of profit/(loss) to cash flows from 
operating activities: 

    

Profit/(loss) before taxation   3 272 (3 418) 

Changes in working capital:    
Movement in trade and other payables   (3 195) 3 482 

   77 64 
 
 

11 Interest in subsidiaries and associates 
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Country 

 
 
 

Effective 
Percentage 

held 
2020 

% 

 
 
 

Effective 
Percentage 

held 
2019 

% 

 
 
 
 
 

Shares at  
cost  

R’000 

Capital 
contribution 

to subsidiaries 
in respect of 

equity-settled 
share-based 

payment 
R’000 

 
 
 
 

Net 
receivable 

2020 
R’000 

 
 
 
 

Net 
receivable 

2019 
R’000 

 
Details of companies are 
reflected below: 

       

        
Directly held:        
Subsidiary of OneLogix 
Group Limited: 

       

OneLogix Proprietary Limited RSA 100 100 52 190 46 472 301 509 361 818 

OLI Trading Limited Mauritius 75 75 - - - - 
        
Subsidiaries of United Bulk 
Proprietary Limited: 

       

Vision Transport Proprietary 
Limited¹ 

 
RSA 

 
100 

 
100 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Cryogas Express Proprietary 
Limited 

 
RSA 

 
74.2 

 
74.2 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

        
Subsidiaries of Siyaduma 
Group Proprietary Limited: 

       

Atlas360 Commercial Vehicle 
Services Proprietary Limited 

 
RSA 

 
100 

 
100 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Cranbourne Panel Beaters and 
Spray Painters Proprietary 
Limited 

 
 

RSA 

 
 

60 

 
 

60 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 
 
(Continued) 
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11 Interest in subsidiaries and associates (Continued) 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Country 

 
 
 

Effective 
Percentage 

held 
2020 

% 

 
 
 

Effective 
Percentage 

held 
2019 

% 

 
 
 
 
 

Shares at  
cost  

R’000 

Capital 
contribution 

to subsidiaries 
in respect of 

equity-settled 
share-based 

payment 
R’000 

 
 
 
 

Net 
receivable 

2020 
R’000 

 
 
 
 

Net 
receivable 

2019 
R’000 

 
Indirectly held:        
Subsidiaries of OneLogix 
Proprietary Limited: 

       

Commercial Vehicle Delivery 
Services Proprietary Limited¹ 

 
RSA 

 
100 

 
100 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Vehicle Delivery Services 
Zimbabwe (Pvt) Limited¹ 

 
Zimbabwe 

 
100 

 
100 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

RFB Logistics Proprietary 
Limited¹ 

 
RSA 

 
100 

 
100 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

PM Hire Proprietary Limited¹ RSA 100 100 - - - - 

Madison Freightlines SA 
Proprietary Limited¹ 

 
RSA 

 
100 

 
100 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

OneLogix Cargo Solutions 
Proprietary Limited 

 
RSA 

 
69.5 

 
69.5 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

OneLogix Projex Proprietary 
Limited 

 
RSA 

 
92.1 

 
92.1 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

OneLogix Warehousing 
Proprietary Limited 

 
RSA 

 
69.5 

 
69.5 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Middle of the Road 
Proprietary Limited 

 
RSA 

 
100 

 
100 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Quasar Software Development 
Proprietary Limited 

 
RSA 

 
85 

 
85 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

United Bulk Proprietary 
Limited 

 
RSA 

 
100 

 
100 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

OneLogix Linehaul 
Proprietary Limited 

 
RSA 

 
75 

 
75 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Jackson Transport Proprietary 
Limited 

 
RSA 

 
74 

 
74 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Jackson Fleet Proprietary 
Limited¹ 

 
RSA 

 
74 

 
74 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Buffelshoek Transport SA 
Proprietary Limited 

 
RSA 

 
82 

 
82 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Buffelshoek Fleet Proprietary 
Limited¹ 

 
RSA 

 
74 

 
74 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Siyaduma Group Proprietary 
Limited 

 
RSA 

 
75 

 
75 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

        
¹ Dormant companies 

 
12 Contingent liabilities 

 
Guarantees issued by OneLogix Group Limited on behalf of subsidiaries are as follows: 
 

• Property lease payments to Camperdown Real Estate for Umlaas Road properties of R196 million 
• Lombard Insurance Company for guarantees issued to various suppliers of R450.5 million 
• Nedbank Group Limited for banking facilities of the group of R450 million 
 
No expected credit losses were recognised in the current or prior year for guarantees that were in the scope of IRFS 9: 
Financial Instruments. 
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At 31 May 2020     
 
Distribution of shareholders 

Number of 
shareholders 

 
% 

Number of 
shares 

 
% 

Institutions and other companies 336 17.6 94 144 942 35.4 
Directors 4 0.2 109 421 744 41.2 
Treasury shares held by Employee Participation 
Schemes 

 
2 

 
0.1 

 
37 976 892  

 
14.3 

Treasury shares held by OneLogix Group Limited 
cancelled and retained to authorised but unissued 
share capital on July 2020 

 
 

1 

 
 

0.1 

 
 

26 914 

 
 

0.0 
Other individuals 1 564 82.0 24 163 565 9.1 

Total 1 907 100.0 265 734 057 100.0 

 
 
Size of holdings 

Number of 
shareholders 

 
% 

Number of 
shares 

 
% 

1 - 999 676 35.4 165 396 0.1 
1 000 - 9 999 720 37.8 2 397 083 0.9 
10 000 - 99 999 395 20.7 10 597 015 4.0 
100 000 - 999 999 91 4.8 21 813 856 8.2 
1 000 000 shares and over 25 1.3 230 660 707 86.8 

Total 1 907 100.0 265 634 057 100.0 

 
At 31 May 2019     
 
 
Distribution of shareholders 

Number of 
ordinary 

shareholders 

 
 

% 

Number of 
ordinary 

shares 

 
 

% 

Institutions and other companies 338 17.2 106 484 706 37.8 
Directors 4 0.2 108 971 744 38.8 
Treasury shares held by Employee Participation 
Schemes 

 
2 

 
0.1 

 
37 976 892 

 
13.5 

Other individuals 1 621 82.5 27 776 630 9.9 

Total 1 965 100.0 281 209 972 100.0 

 
 
 
Distribution of shareholders 

Number of 
ordinary 

shareholders 

 
 

% 

Number of 
ordinary 

shares 

 
 

% 

Size of holdings     

1 - 999 585 29.8 154 286 0.1 
1 000 - 9 999 788 40.1 2 618 628 0.9 
10 000 - 99 999 459 23.4 12 846 236 4.6 
100 000 - 999 999 107 5.4 25 631 109 9.1 
1 000 000 shares and over 26 1.3 239 959 713 85.3 

Total 1 965 100.0 281 209 972 100.0 

 
Beneficial shareholders with a holding greater  
than 5% of the issued shares 

Number of 
shares 

% of issued 
share capital 

 
NJB Investco Proprietary Limited 91 253 945 34.3 
Kagiso Capital Proprietary Limited 28 056 585 10.6 
OLG Esizayo Proprietary Limited (Treasury shares held by 
OneLogix Group Limited) 

 
25 317 929 

 
9.5 

 
At year-end 1 896 shareholders holding 113 736 850 shares were classified as public shareholders (being 99.4% of the 
total number of shareholders and 42.8% of the total number of issued shares) and 11 shareholders holding 151 997 207 
shares were classified as non-public shareholders (being 0.6% of the total shareholders and 57.2% of the issued shares). 
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OneLogix Group Limited  

  

Company registration number JSE Code 

1998/004519/06 OLG 

  

Business address and registered office ISIN Number 

46 Tulbagh Road, Pomona, Kempton Park 

Postnet Suite 10, Private Bag X27, 

Kempton Park, 1620 

Telephone +27 11 396-9040 

Facsimile +27 11 396-9050 

ZAE 000026399 

  

Company secretary Transfer secretaries 

CIS Company Secretaries Proprietary Limited 

Rosebank Towers 

Computershare Investor Services Proprietary 

Limited 

15 Biermann Avenue 

Rosebank 

2195 

P O Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107 

Telephone +27 11 370 5237 

Rosebank Towers 

15 Biermann Avenue 

Rosebank 

2195 

P O Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107 

Telephone +27 11 370 5000 

Facsimile  +27 11 370 5271 

  

Auditors Sponsor 

Mazars 

Partner:  R. Murugan 

Registered Auditor 

Java Capital Proprietary Limited  

(a Sponsor registered with JSE Limited) 

  

54 Glenhove Road, Melrose Estate, 2196 

PO Box 6697, Johannesburg, 2000 

Telephone +27 11 547 4000 

Facsimile +27 11 484 7854  

2nd Floor 

6A Sandown Crescent Valley 

Sandton 

2196 

PO Box 471917, Parklands, 2121 

Telephone +27 11 722 3050 

Facsimile +27 11 686 9061 

 

Investor relations and sustainability 
 

Ian Lourens (CEO) 

46 Tulbagh Road, Pomona, Kempton Park 

Postnet Suite 10, Private Bag X27, 

Kempton Park, 1620 

Telephone +27 11 396-9040 

Facsimile +27 11 396-9050 
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